
1 

GOLDSBORO CITY COUNCIL  
REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
MONDAY, AUGUST 7, 2023 
 (Please turn off, or silence, all cellphones upon entering the Council Chambers) 

I. WORK SESSION–5:00 P.M. – LARGE CONF. RM, CITY HALL ADDITION, 200 N. CENTER ST., ROOM 206 
1. ROLL CALL

2. ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA

3. OLD BUSINESS

4. NEW BUSINESS
a. NCORR Affordable Housing (Matt Whittle, Habitat for Humanity)
b. Insurance Waiver for Butts Mobile Home Movers to Relocate the City’s Modular Building (Public Works)
c. Public Safety Complex Repairs (Public Works)
d. Wastewater Reclamation Facility Expansion Engineering Design Services (Assistant City Manager)

II. CALL TO ORDER – 7:00 P.M. – COUNCIL CHAMBERS, 214 N. CENTER STREET
Invocation (Pastor Ronnie E. Spruill – Have Faith Ministries)
Pledge of Allegiance

III. ROLL CALL

IV. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
A.1 Minutes of the Work Session and Regular Meeting of July 17, 2023
A.2 Revised Minutes of the Work Session and Regular Meeting of May 15, 2023

V. PRESENTATIONS 
B. Employee/Supervisor of Year Recognition 
C. Susan Thornton Recognition  
D. Justin Cates Recognition  

VI. PUBLIC HEARINGS
E. Z-10-23 Meares Bluff Village (Residential 20 A to Residential 6 CZ) – North of US 70 on the east side of N

NC 111 (Meares Bluff Subdivision) (Planning) 
F. Public Hearing to Consider an Economic Development Agreement with ALTA Foods LLC and Wayne

County (City Manager) 

VII. PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD

VIII. CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS
G. Amending a Grant Project Fund Ordinance – 2010 Sewer Bonds (S1104) (Finance)
H. Authorization of sale of substandard lots to adjacent property owner under Session Law 2004-94 (Senate

Bill 1370) for 100 Whitfield Drive and S. Alabama Street (John H. Oliver, Jr.) (Finance) 
I. Operating Budget Amendment FY23-24 (Finance)

IX. ITEMS REQUIRING INDIVIDUAL ACTION
J. Operating Budget Amendment FY23-24 – Wayne County Chamber of Commerce Allocation (Finance)
K. Adoption of an Ordinance Amending Chapter 115: Alcoholic Beverage Permits, implementing a Social

District in the City of Goldsboro (Downtown Development) 

X. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 

XI. CEREMONIAL DOCUMENTS

XII. MAYOR AND COUNCILMEMBERS’ COMMENTS

XIII. CLOSED SESSION

XIV. ADJOURN

- Rezoning request withdrawn



Habitat for Humanity
of Goldsboro-Wayne

Serving Wayne County since 2001
and now serving Lenoir County

w.s. item a



Vision
A community in which everyone 

has a decent place to live.

Mission
To work with our neighbors to share 

God’s love by building homes, communities 
& hope through affordable home ownership.



HABITAT’S IMPACT – TO DATE

• 95 new homes built

• 8 homes recycled

• 40 home repairs

• Served 143 families locally



Where have we been building? 
Our Marshall Street Neighborhood!

707 & 709 
N. Georgia Ave.

600 & 602 
Marshall St.



Where have we been building? 
Our Marshall Street Neighborhood

714, 712 & 710 
N. Alabama Ave.

706 & 708 
N. Alabama Ave.



NCORR: 
Affordable 
Housing 

Development 
Fund

McNair Heights

Off of Dr. H.E. 
McNair Street 

(formerly Poplar 
Street)



NCORR:  Affordable Housing Development Fund
McNair Heights



NCORR:  Affordable Housing Development Fund
McNair Heights



NCORR:  Affordable Housing Development Fund
Overview

• Project Scope: Infrastructure for the extension of Berry 
Street to serve 26 anticipated homes. Construction of 8 of 
those 26 homes. Homes should be sold to families under 
80% of AMI

 
• Total Project Budget: $4,545,250 (estimated)

• Total Requested Amount: $3,369,250 (estimated)



NCORR:  Affordable Housing Development Fund
Overview

• Total Project Budget: $5,170,260 (estimated)
• Includes cost of infrastructure, construction, soft costs, 

developer/general contractor fees, and contingency

• Total Requested Amount: $3,620,160 (estimated)
• Includes cost of infrastructure ($2.11M), contingency, 

developer/GC fees & appraisal gap funding (down payment 
assistance)



NCORR:  Affordable Housing Development Fund
Overview

• Amount of funding required from the City: $0*

• Habitat Goldsboro-Wayne will cover the $1.5M gap 
between anticipated project cost & requested amount*

*We do anticipate approximately $160K coming from the City’s 
HOME funds through CHDO & HBA programs



NCORR:  Affordable Housing Development Fund
Overview

• This is the 3rd round of Affordable Housing Development 
funding being issued by the NC Office of Recovery & 
Resiliency for areas impacted by Hurricanes Matthew and 
Florence.

• City of Goldsboro is the applicant to NCORR for CDBG-DR 
funds and will be the sub-recipient of the funds.

• Habitat for Humanity of Goldsboro-Wayne will be the 
developer as well as the contractor for home construction. 



NCORR:  Affordable Housing Development Fund
Overview

• City Responsibilities
• Submit the application

• Provide evidence of local support

• Show that the project is consistent with community 
planning priorities related to resiliency against future 
storms



NCORR:  Affordable Housing Development Fund
Overview

• City Responsibilities (continued)
• Show capacity to manage the CDBG-DR grant (this can 

including hiring or contracting plans)
• Perform financial management & oversight
• Show prior experience managing grants
• Internal auditing capability
• Administrative staffing
• Knowledge of federal & state procurement/contracting/financial 

management requirements & 2 CFR 200
• Monitoring & controls of timely expenditure of federal funds



NCORR:  Affordable Housing Development Fund
Overview

• City/Habitat Partnership Structure
• City is sub-recipient and will submit to NCORR for 

reimbursement payments, including admin costs

• Sub-awards to Habitat must be non-amortizing loans 
requiring land use restriction agreements based on 
affordability period

• City monitors Habitat to ensure plans & work meet all 
applicable NCORR standards and all federal regulations 
are followed



NCORR:  Affordable Housing Development Fund
Overview

• Timeline
• Aug. 25, 2023 – Application Deadline

• October 2023 – Award Announcement

• Mid-2026 – Anticipated Grant Period End



bw.s.



w.s c



Public Safety Complex Update

8/3/2023 1

Key Facts

• The original building is 50 years old, along with the core plumbing and electrical.
• The foundation is still sinking.
• The foundation failure is causing structural failure of the interior and exterior walls.
• The roof connections to the supporting walls have separated due to foundation and 

wall movement.
• The roof and many windows have numerous water infiltration locations.
• The interior floor slab is sinking, causing significant plumbing and flooring issues.
• Some existing duct work is positive for mold.
• Some repairs will require asbestos abatement.



Public Safety Complex Update

8/3/2023 1

Current Assessment Activities

• LynchMykins Structural Assessment Recommendations
• Helical Pier Installation
• Hire Building Envelope Consultant (waterproofing)
• Remove cracked brick and block and repoint all cracked joints

• Turner & Townsend Heery Proposal for Owner’s Representation Services

• Ram Jack Helical Pier Foundation Stabilization 
• 160 Helical Piers
• 24 Slab Supports



Public Safety Complex Update

8/3/2023 1

Estimated Costs

• Structural Assessment – LynchMykins    $         2,500.00
• Scope Development – Turner & Townsend   $       17,000.00
• Foundation Stabilization – Ram Jack    $    550,000.00
• HVAC System Total Replacement         $ 1,250,000.00
• Building Envelope Repair (Roof, Walls, Windows) TBD
• Exterior Brick and Interior Block Repair   TBD
• Plumbing and Electrical Repairs     TBD
• Interior Finishes (floors-ceilings-fixtures)   TBD

• New Public Safety Complex $10-15 million



Foundation Repairs

8/3/2023 1

------- Helical Piers 160

------- Column Piers 6

------- Slab Supports 24

------- Slab Repairs 2

------- Step Rem/Rep



w.s d





1 of 17 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE GOLDSBORO CITY COUNCIL 
JULY 17, 2023 

WORK SESSION 

The City Council of the City of Goldsboro, North Carolina, met in a Work Session in the Large Conference Room, 
City Hall Addition, 200 North Center Street, at 5:00 p.m. on July 17, 2023.   

Call to Order.  Mayor Ham called the meeting to order at 5:00 p.m. 

Roll Call.  
Present: Mayor David Ham, Presiding 

Mayor Pro Tem Brandi Matthews 
Councilman Bill Broadaway 
Councilman Charles Gaylor, IV 

Absent: Councilwoman Hiawatha Jones 
Councilman Greg Batts 

Also Present: Tim Salmon, City Manager 
Ron Lawrence, City Attorney  
Laura Getz, City Clerk  
Matt Livingston, Assistant City Manager 

 Adoption of the Agenda. Mayor Ham requested Consent Agenda Item M, FY2023-2024 Annual Action Plan 
Recommendations be moved to Old Business, item c. Upon motion of Councilman Broadaway, seconded by Councilman 
Gaylor, and unanimously carried, Council adopted the amended agenda.  

New Business work session Item c was conducted before Old Business.  

Industry Economic Development Update. Craig Foucht, Director of Business and Project Management at   
NC Global TransPark Economic Development Region shared North Carolina business statistics. He also shared the 
following information regarding three projects interested in Park East. The first was a 1.1-billion-dollar capital investment, 
800 jobs, and Goldsboro was one of three communities that were asked to submit a specific property. The second was a 
1.06-billion-dollar capital investment, 435 jobs, and we were one of only two sites that were asked to submit.  We were 
unable to submit for these projects due to water and sewer capacity limitations. The third is a 2.95-billion-dollar capital 
investment, 3,650 jobs, and we were one of seven to submit but there has been no notification yet. 

Mr. Foucht shared that we need a strategic plan to solve the wastewater issue if we want to attract large capital investment. 
Mr. Foucht discussed a recent meeting held to discuss regionalization for water and sewer in this area.   

Councilman Broadaway asked about lobbying for wastewater. Mr. Foucht stated they are looking at hiring a federal lobbyist 
for infrastructure funding. Councilman Gaylor asked about the possibility of getting federal assistance with wastewater 
issues. Mr. Foucht discussed funding and grants for infrastructure. City Manager Salmon reemphasized that we have 14.2 
million gallons per day in our wastewater treatment plant capacity and we are permitted up to 17.6.  He shared a study was 
put in this year’s budget to see what it would cost to expand the wastewater capacity to 17.6 or more.  

Old Business. 

NPO Funding Recommended Allocation. Sherry Archibald, United Way Executive Director shared the following 
presentation: 

United Way of Wayne County
City of Goldsboro

Non-Profit
Organization Funding

CONNECTED WE CAN

Item A1



2 of 17 
 

 

 
 
Mrs. Archibald shared the following: We received 10 applications with Step 1.  Nine of those applicants returned 
completing the 2nd phase of the process. The Notice of Funding Opportunity and application offered two categories:  
Benefit and Practiced Partners.  Benefit Partner was an opportunity to less experienced non-profits with some guidance and 
support as well as stronger oversight, reporting and reimbursable model. We did not receive any applicants in as Benefit 
Partners. Following a survey to you to identify your priorities, we completed a 10-page Notice of Funding Opportunity, 
advertised and shared Council’s priorities with all non-profits interested in applying.  We opened the opportunity with a 
two-step application process and began recruiting volunteers to serve on the City of Goldsboro Impact Committee.  After 
recruiting more than 40 volunteers to serve the City’s interest, we divided them into four sub-committees representing your 
priority areas and facilitated two days of presentations. A panel of four sub-committee chairs convened to discuss the 
presentations and determine final recommendations.  Those 4 Sub-committee chairs are Esteban Guzman, Hope Gay, Tara 
Humphries & Eddie Edwards.  Upon your approval of the recommendations, UWWC will provide a request, along with all 
the required documentation to the Finance Director, to process the first of two payments to these non-profits doing great 
work in our community. I plan to bring this process back to you in February/March 2024 to evaluate and determine how or 
if we proceed in the next budget cycle and will have reporting to share with you in May.   
 
Councilman Gaylor asked about the duplicate listing for Literacy Connections. Mrs. Archibald shared that Literacy 
Connections applied for funding for two of their programs. Mayor Ham thanked Mrs. Archibald and her team for the United 
Way’s administration of the program.  
 
Councilman Broadaway made a motion to approve the presented recommendations. The motion was seconded by 
Councilman Gaylor and unanimously approved.  
 
  FY22-23 NPO Funding. Tim Salmon, City Manager shared the following comments: A nonprofit organization that 
was appropriated funding by council last fiscal year but did not receive the funding due to audit requirements has requested 
to receive the funding this fiscal year once their audit is complete. Would the council be agreeable to that? 
 
Mayor Ham shared the nonprofit organization being referred to is Rebuilding Broken Places. He also shared he has spoken 
with their CPA and the delay in submitting the documents was the on the part of the CPA, not Rebuilding Broken Places.  
 
Council discussed the issue and concurred to proceed with funding Rebuilding Broken Places for FY 22-23 in the FY 23-24 
budget once their audit has been submitted. A budget amendment will be brought to a future Council meeting for approval.     

 
FY2023-2024 Annual Action Plan Recommendations. Felecia Williams, Community Relations and Development 

Director presented the following information which was provided to Council after being revised on July 14, 2023:  On July 
5, 2023, HUD notified the City of the disapproval of the FY23-24 Annual Action Plan and offered a remedy of corrective 
actions to be taken within 30 days of the official date of disapproval. 

    
The corrective actions included: 

• 25% HOME match/match waiver request must be included in the Expected Resources 
• Description of publicly owned land 
• Clarity on the type of housing to be funded for CHDO set-aside (rental/homeownership) 
• Projects do not equal total amount of available funds (CDBG-$211,962 under funded / HOME-$40 over funded) 
• Description of reasons for allocation priorities 
• Description of process for funding with HOME funds 
• Description of Recapture requirements 

 



3 of 17 
 

Staff made the following corrections and resubmitted the Annual Action Plan on July 14, 2023: 
• Requested HOME match waiver, as Goldsboro meets HUD’s criteria as a financially distressed city. 
• Added further description of publicly owned land. 
• Clarified that CHDO funds will be provided for rental and homeownership. 
• Added the missing activity (Public Facilities & Improvements) and refunded activities so that all funds were 

appropriately allocated. 
• Added further description of reasons for allocation priorities. 
• Added further description of process for funding with HOME funds. 
• Added further description of Recapture requirements. 

 
There is no action needed from Council at this time.   
   
 New Business.  

 
City Fiscal Policy Guidelines and Strategic Plan Finance Metrics. Octavius Murphy, Assistant to the City 

Manager introduced Mitch Brigulio with Davenport (participated electronically) and Hayden Clark, East Carolina Fellow 
and presented the following information: The City Fiscal Policy Guidelines adopted April 19, 2010, and revised February 
15, 2012, establish General Fund (GF) available fund balance and Utility Fund (UF) reserve targets that enable our local 
government to fund operations and maintenance and capital requirements when revenue is down and costs may be up due to 
national, state, and/or local state of emergency or other City specific reasons. The City currently does not have a bond rating 
policy which enables it to be a low-risk borrower when undertaking projects. None of these important guidelines are in the 
City Strategic Plan. 

 
City staff and our Davenport financial consultants recommend the following revisions to the City Fiscal Policy Guidelines 
and Strategic Plan: GF “available” fund balance should be replaced with “unassigned” fund balance as depicted in Annual 
Comprehensive Financial Report with the target being “at least” 15%, vice 15%, to be more in line with other cities our size 
as recommended by the NC Local Government Commission (LGC). Utility Fund “reserves” should be replaced with “cash 
and investments” to properly qualify the necessary liquidity. Maintaining a “very strong” bond rating is crucial to the city’s 
financial stability and growth.  

 
It was recommended that Council accept the Fiscal Policy changes and Strategic Plan metrics stated below: 

  
 RESERVE POLICIES 
Unreserved, Undesignated Fund Balances will mean funds that remain available for appropriation by the City 

Council after all commitments for future expenditures, required reserves defined by State statutes, and previous Council 
designations have been calculated. The City will define these remaining amounts as “available fund balances.” 

 
1. The City of Goldsboro will strive to maintain available unassigned fund balances in the General Fund at a level 

sufficient to meet its objectives. The City will target an available unassigned fund balance at the close of each 
fiscal year equal to at least 15% of General Fund operating Budget expenditures and transfers out; at no time 
shall the available unassigned fund balance fall below 10% of General Fund operating Budget expenditures and 
transfers out without Council approval. 

 
2. The City Council may, from time-to-time, appropriate fund balances that will reduce available unassigned fund 

balances below the 10% policy for the purposes of a declared fiscal emergency or other such global purpose as 
to protect the long-term fiscal security of the City of Goldsboro. In such circumstances, the Council will adopt a 
plan to restore the available unassigned fund balances to the policy level within 36 months from the date of the 
appropriation. If restoration cannot be accomplished within such time period without severe hardship to the 
City, then the Council will establish a different but appropriate time period. 

 
3. The City has adopted a comprehensive strategy for the long-term stability and financial health of the Combined 

Water and Sewer Utility Fund that provides for annual increases in fund reserves to an established goal of. The 
City of Goldsboro will strive to maintain Utility Fund cash and investments at the close of each fiscal year equal 
to at least 50% of the Water and Sewer Utility Fund operating budget expenditures; at no time shall cash and 
investments fall below 30% of Utility Fund operating expenditures without Council approval. 

 
4. The City Council may, from time-to-time, appropriate Utility Fund cash and investments below the 30% policy 

for the purposes of a declared fiscal emergency or other such global purpose as to protect the long-term fiscal 
security of the City of Goldsboro. In such circumstances, the Council will adopt a plan to restore cash and 
investments to the policy level within 36 months from the date of the appropriation. If restoration cannot be 
accomplished within such time period without severe hardship to the City, then the Council will establish a 
different but appropriate time period. 

 
BOND RATING POLICY. The City will maintain a very strong/high bond rating to be considered a “low-risk” 
borrower when obtaining funding for projects. The City will target the Standard and Poor’s AA+/Moody’s Aa1 
rating; at no time shall the rating drop below AA/Aa2 without Council notification. In such circumstances, the 
Council will adopt a plan to restore the bond rating to the policy level within 36 months from the date of the lower 



4 of 17 
 

or lost bond rating. If restoration cannot be accomplished within such time period without severe hardship to the 
City, then Council will establish a different but appropriate time period. 

 
Councilman Gaylor made a motion to accept the Fiscal Policy Changes and Strategic Plan changes presented. The motion 
was seconded by Councilman Broadaway and unanimously carried.  
 

Public Art Selection Process Update. Kayla Jones, Downtown Development presented the following information: 

n  

   

   

    

Public Art Selec�on for
Center Street

City of Goldsboro
Council Work Session Mee�ng
July 17, 2023

PUBLIC ART SELECTION FOR CENTER STREET PROJECT

THREE MUSKETEERS (3 UNITS)
Dimensions:11’ x 4’, 10’ x 4’, 10’ x 3’
Materials: Painted Aluminum

Selections: Large - Center Street Roundabouts

THREE SISTERS (3 UNITS– KINETIC)
Dimensions:Up to 16’ Tall,
6’ Diameter Each
Materials: Stainless SteeL, Glass

PUBLIC ART SELECTION FOR CENTER STREET PROJECT

Selections: Medium – John Street Lot & Median

OH DEER
Dimensions: 8’ x 4’ x 2’
Materials: Stainless Steel



5 of 17 
 

   

   

   

 
 
Mayor Ham shared comments about what art means for our downtown and thanked Council for funding the art in the 
budget. Council had no further comments.   
 
City Manager Salmon and City Attorney Lawrence shared if Council had any concerns regarding items K-O-P and Q, the 
item would need to be removed from the agenda and placed on Items Requiring Individual Action since these ordinances 
would require a super-majority (all 4 members present).  

 
Consent Agenda Review. Items K - R on the consent agenda were reviewed. Further discussion included the 

following: 
 
Item K. Adoption of an Ordinance Amending Chapter 115: Alcoholic Beverage Permits, and approval of the 

Maintenance Plan implementing a Social District in the City of Goldsboro. The item was presented by Greg Mills, 
Downtown Development. Mayor Ham shared concerns regarding the boundaries of the social district. Mr. Mills explained 



6 of 17 
 

the existing boundaries. Mayor Pro Tem Matthews made a motion to amend the agenda by removing Item K until the next 
meeting. The motion was seconded by Councilman Gaylor and unanimously carried.  

 
Closed Session. 
Upon motion of Councilman Gaylor, seconded by Councilman Broadaway and unanimously carried, Council went 

into Closed Session to discuss Litigation and Economic Development. 
 
After the Closed Session was held, Council came out of Closed Session and back into Open Session. 
 
 
Mayor Ham recessed the meeting at 6:25 p.m. 
 
 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 
The City Council of the City of Goldsboro, North Carolina, met in Regular Session in Council Chambers, City Hall, 

214 North Center Street, at 7:00 p.m. on July 17, 2023. 
 
Mayor Ham called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 
 
Archbishop Anthony Slater with Tehillah Church Ministries provided the invocation.  The Pledge of Allegiance followed. 
 
 

Roll Call.   
Present:  Mayor David Ham, Presiding 

Mayor Pro Tem Brandi Matthews 
Councilman Bill Broadaway 
Councilman Charles Gaylor, IV 

 
Absent:   Councilwoman Hiawatha Jones 
   Councilman Greg Batts 
 
Also Present: Tim Salmon, City Manager 

Ron Lawrence, City Attorney  
Laura Getz, City Clerk  
Matt Livingston, Assistant City Manager 

 
Approval of Minutes.  Councilman Broadaway made a motion to approve the minutes of the Work Session and 

Regular Meeting of June 20, 2023 and the Minutes of the Special Meeting of July 6, 2023.  The motion was seconded by 
Councilman Gaylor and unanimously carried.   

 
Presentations. 

          Employee Performance Awards.  City Manager Salmon presented the following awards: 
 
The Employee of the Quarter Award: Luke Miller. Officer Luke Miller put his training to use on June 6, 2023. He was 
flagged down by a mother whose 13-year-old daughter was having an anaphylactic reaction due to food allergies. The 13-
year-old was not breathing on her own, giving the universal sign for choking or not being able to breathe by putting her 
hands around her neck. The mother had an EpiPen but did not know how to utilize it. Officer Miller took the EpiPen, 
correctly utilized it, providing the child with some relief to her allergic reaction.  
 
Officer Miller called for EMS and kept an eye on the daughter. He also took the time to educate the mother on how to 
properly utilize the remaining EpiPen, in the event it would be needed in the future. EMS took several minutes to arrive on 
scene, and had Officer Miller not properly utilized the EpiPen, the outcome for the 13-year-old could have been worse. 
 
Officer Miller’s work ethic and accomplishments reflect well on himself and the City of Goldsboro. 
 
The Supervisor of the Quarter Award: Joshua Shockley. As the Event Center Manager, Josh Shockley has exhibited 
professionalism, integrity, and customer-focus as we continue to work through and out of the pandemic. He continues to go 
above and beyond to serve the citizens of Goldsboro and many other guests that visit the Goldsboro Golf Course and Event 
Center. 
 
Josh continues daily, weekly, and monthly to put in place protocols for the Event Center to run as smoothly as possible. He 
and his staff work together to take care of their patrons daily. The citizens and guests of Goldsboro are continuously 
relaying compliments regarding the service and professionalism they receive during their functions at the Event Center. The 
number of referrals and compliments continue to be a great asset to the success of the Event Center. 
 
Josh has only been the Event Center Manager for a year, yet has accomplished a 67% increase in events over any year that 
the City of Goldsboro has owned the Event Center. For the month of January 2023, Josh brought in revenue in excess of 



7 of 17 
 

$21,000 for the month; this is 72.5% more than any other month in the history of the City owning and operating the Event 
Center. 
 
Josh's work ethic, professionalism, integrity, and customer-focus reflect well on himself and the City of Goldsboro.    
 
Annual National Night Out Proclamation. Read by Mayor Ham: The Goldsboro City Council proclaimed Tuesday, 
August 1, 2023, as the ANNUAL NATIONAL NIGHT OUT in the City of Goldsboro, North Carolina, and called upon all 
citizens of the City of Goldsboro to join the National Association of Town Watch in supporting the “Annual National Night 
Out" on August 1, 2023. 
 
Goldsboro/Wayne Purple Heart Proclamation. Read by Councilman Broadaway: The Goldsboro City Council and 
Wayne County Board of Commissioners honored the service and sacrifice of our nation’s men and women in uniform 
wounded or killed by the enemy while serving to protect the freedoms enjoyed by all Americans.  Jointly, the Goldsboro 
City Council and the Wayne County Board of Commissioners commended the Board of Directors of the Goldsboro/Wayne 
Purple Heart Foundation for honoring Purple Heart recipients at its annual banquet on August 5, 2023, as a special tribute to 
those service members who have received the Purple Heart and the families of Purple Heart recipients who are deceased. 
 

Public Hearings.  
Z-10-23 Meares Bluff Village (Residential 20 A to Residential 6 CZ) – North of US 70 on the east side of N 

NC 111 (Meares Bluff Subdivision). Public Hearing continued to August 7, 2023. The item was presented by Austin 
Brinkley, Assistant Planning Director. 

 
 ADDRESS: Pickens Dr. & N NC 111 
 PARCEL #: 3611048404 & 3601933033 
 OWNER/APPLICANT: CE2, LLC 
 
The applicant is requesting a conditional rezoning from the Residential 20 Agriculture Zoning District to the Residential 6 
(R-6) Conditional Zoning District. The purpose of the Residential 6 (R-6) Conditional Zoning District is to accommodate 
both single and multi-family residential uses and to prohibit all activities of a commercial nature.  
 
Access: Pickens Dr. 
Area: 22.4 acres 
 
Single-Family lots: 79 (3 phase construction) 
Phase A – 35 
Phase B – 21 
Phase C - 23 
 
SURROUNDING ZONING:                     
 North: Residential 20 Agriculture 
 South: Residential 20 Agriculture 
   East: Residential 20 Agriculture 
   West: Residential 16 & Residential 20 Agriculture 
 
Existing Use:  The properties are currently vacant. 
 
Land Use Plan:  The City’s Land Use Plan locates these parcels within the Low-Density Residential designation. 
 
Low-Density Residential: This designation is intended to locate in areas where development pressures are the least.  
 
The Residential 6 (R-6) Conditional Zoning District is not identified as a corresponding district for the Low-Density 
Residential land use designation. The application states that in 2008, the developer purchased sewer capacity on the Stoney 
Creek Church force main in anticipation for future development.  
 
This is a conditional rezoning proposal to establish a single-family residential planned unit development consisting of 79 
single-family lots, this development is proposed to be built out in three separate phases. The adjacent uses are the Meares 
Bluff Subdivision and the Whispering Woods Subdivision. The parcels would have access off Pickens Dr. which is off of N 
NC 111. The development proposes to incorporate 25% open space. 
 
TRC REVIEW: Staff has distributed this proposed conditional rezoning to several different departments as well as 
Seymour Johnson Air Force Base and NCDOT. There are no comments at this time, based off the concept design. If 
approved, this will require Site Plan submittal and will undergo TRC Review.  
 
Staff is recommending approval of the conditional rezoning request based on the fact that this would aid in satisfying the 
growing demand for housing in the City of Goldsboro and would not be out of character with the surrounding area which is 
also residential in nature. The availability of water and sewer does support a higher density development which is allowed in 
the Residential 6 district.   
    



8 of 17 
 

The City of Goldsboro Planning Commission met on June 26, 2023, to review and make a recommendation regarding the 
rezoning request. Planning Commission voted 6 in favor 0 against. 
 
Councilman Gaylor asked Mr. Brinkley to discuss the differences in R-20 and R-6 and what it would allow. Mr. Brinkley 
discussed the differences in the zoning.   
    
Mayor Ham opened the Public Hearing. The following people spoke: 
 

1. Daniel Brock, Mears Bluff resident, shared his comments (Exhibit A) and a map of Mears Bluff Plantation (Exhibit 
B) with the clerk. He spoke in opposition to the rezoning.  

2. Kenneth Powell, Mears Bluff resident, spoke in opposition to the rezoning.  
3. Mike Byrd, Mears Bluff resident, spoke in opposition to the rezoning.  
4. Blain Crocker, Developer, spoke in favor of the rezoning.  
5. Brian Daniels, Mears Bluff resident, spoke in opposition to the rezoning.  
6. Tracy Haskins, Mears Bluff resident, spoke in opposition to the rezoning.  
7. Mandy Murphy, Mears Bluff resident, spoke in opposition to the rezoning.  
8. Janet Muscher, Mears Bluff resident, spoke in opposition to the rezoning.  
9. Rick Nelson, Whispering Pines resident, spoke in opposition to the rezoning.  
10. Wells Warner, Mears Bluff resident, spoke in opposition to the rezoning.  
11. Tony Wooten, Mears Bluff resident, spoke in opposition to the rezoning.  
12. Quinn Wright, Cottonwood Neighborhood resident, spoke in opposition to the rezoning.  
13. David West, Mears Bluff resident, spoke in opposition to the rezoning.  
14. Andrea Thomas, Mears Bluff resident, spoke in opposition to the rezoning.  
15. Tony Gollotto, Mears Bluff resident, spoke in opposition to the rezoning.  
16. Octavius Murphy, Mears Bluff resident, spoke regarding the rezoning.  

No one else spoke and the Public Hearing was closed. 
 
Council shall vote to adopt the recommendation for approval and consistency statement that the Planning Commission has 
provided and vote to adopt the Approval Ordinance with the inclusion of the consistency statement, or council shall vote to 
deny and adopt the Ordinance to Deny with the inclusion of a statement that deems this rezoning request to be inconsistent. 
Council may also continue the public hearing to a date certain if they determine further discussion is needed. 

Councilman Gaylor made a motion to continue the public hearing to the August 7 council meeting. The motion was 
seconded by Councilman Broadaway and unanimously carried. 
 

SU-5-23 Cemetery – T-intersection of Herbert St. and S. John St. ext. Public Hearing continued to August 21, 
2023. Kenny Talton, Planning Director presented the following:   
     

ADDRESS: (TBD) 
PARCEL #: 2598792758 
OWNER: Goldsby Memorial Gardens Inc. 
APPLICANT: Timothy Goldsby 

 
Mr. Talton stated the wording on the map, Ground Zero should just be Cemetery.   
 
The applicant requests a Special Use Permit for the establishment of a private cemetery located in the General Industry (I-2) 
Zoning District. The General Industry Zoning district is established to accommodate the widest range of manufacturing, 
wholesale, and distribution uses. 
 
Mr. Talton shared a copy of the zoning map and stated there is R-9 zoning to the East, to the South and General Industry to 
the West and North. 
 
According to the City’s Unified Development Code, a cemetery is a permitted use in the General Industry Zoning District 
only after obtaining a Special Use Permit from Goldsboro City Council. In addition, the following are approval criteria for 
the proposed use: 
 

1. Chapels, mortuaries, mausoleums, administrative offices and maintenance buildings may be developed within the 
cemetery. Access to all buildings shall be from within the cemetery. The minimum setback for all structures, 
excluding gatehouses is one hundred feet from any exterior property line. Gatehouses are excluded from any 
minimum setback. 

2. The minimum setback for any grave or burial plot is fifty feet from any exterior property line, except that any 
grave or burial plot shall be allowed within three feet of a property line of an abutting parcel containing an existing 
cemetery.  

3. Where a cemetery abuts a residentially developed or zoned property, it shall be screened in accordance with 
Section 6.3 (Landscaping, Screening, and Buffering Standards). 

 
Zoning:  General Industry (I-2) 
Floodplain: 100-year 



9 of 17 
 

 
Existing Use:  Vacant woodland. 
 
Acres:  2.9 
 
The City’s Land Use Plan locates this parcel within the Industrial land use designation. The City of Goldsboro 
Comprehensive Land Use Plan emphasizes that the purpose of this sector is to establish and protect industrial areas for the 
use of prime industrial operations and for the distribution of products at wholesale. The General Industry (I-2) Zoning 
District is a corresponding district in the Industrial land use designation. 
 
According to the applicant’s submitted site plan, the proposed cemetery will consist of a total of 2,250 grave sites.  
 
Hours of Operation/Days:  24 hours/7days a week 
 
Employees: 1 
 
TRC REVIEW: City Engineering was asked to review and provide comment since the location of the proposed cemetery 
was in the 100-year floodplain. In addition, the applicant was requested to provide additional information for how the 
impacts of potential flooding in a private cemetery could be mitigated. 
 
Mr. Talton stated the following: During the TRC review, Planning and Engineering had concerns over the proposed use and 
its location being within the AE flood zone.  The applicant has also been requested to provide additional information for 
how flood impacts can be addressed for this specific use.  
  
If the Special Use Permit is approved, a full TRC review will be conducted, and site plan approval will be required in order 
to operate. 
 
After being properly sworn in, Mr. Talton continued the presentation.  
 
Mr. Talton stated the following: what you see here is the site plan for the proposed cemetery with South John Street being at 
the lower section of the slide and of course you see the 2,250 graves lots. Staff is recommending the following conditions in 
order to mitigate potential flood impacts for the use of the property. This condition has been recommended to do what has 
happened in previous flooding events.  Each grave site as a condition would be required to have an engineer certification for 
the site certifying that coffins will not float, and other information deemed necessary by the Goldsboro Floodplain 
Administrator. 
 
Mayor Ham stated the following: I am familiar with this area, I think we all are familiar with John Street and the flooding 
issues that happens along there. I've seen it flood, but your presentation mentions a requirement to certify that caskets will 
not float. I'm also familiar with floating caskets in our own cemetery. So, that’s a concern that I have. I will speak for 
myself. There must be some methodology to having a non-floating casket. But I still think that we have to consider the 
location.  
 

Mayor Ham opened the Public Hearing. The following person spoke after being properly sworn in: 
 
1. Timothy Goldsby, applicant, stated the following: My name is Timothy Goldsby, I’m the one pitching the plan 

for this cemetery.  I'm actually asking that this be continued until the next meeting. Planning did send me an e-
mail on the 5th and there are still some issues that I am getting the information for to present to you all.  I would 
like to have it continued until the next meeting so I could have a little bit more information to give you all to 
satisfy some of the concerns. What I will say, I have been in this industry for over 10 years and I'm as well 
familiar with the caskets that did float down in Elmwood. I was actually working at a funeral home at the time 
we were part of the team that kind of worked with that as well and I've also been the general manager of 
Cleanse Excavations and we handle burials for years. Just on the surface now one of the things I will say is 
those vaults that did come up were surface burials, which has been outlawed. By North Carolina law, burials 
must be 18 inches below the surface. With my plan being where it is to you know kind of make people feel 
better and help to ensure that they don't float I plan to go 6 more inches to cover 24 inches below the surface as 
well as there will be no just casket burials it will be mandated that you have concrete vault so those are a few 
things that I have come up with already for that issue. I will ask that if you will allow me to come back at the 
next meeting and I will have more information for you. 

 
Attorney Lawrence clarified the dates for Special Use hearings, which is the second meeting of the month. 
 

 
Mayor Pro Tem Matthews made a motion to continue the public hearing to the August 21st council meeting. The motion 
was seconded by Councilman Gaylor and unanimously carried. 
 
No one else spoke and the Public Hearing was closed. 



10 of 17 
 

SU-8-23 Special Event Venues (POE/No ABC)– Intersection of N. William St. and W. Patetown Rd. Public 
Hearing Held and Findings Adopted. After being properly sworn in, Kenny Talton, Planning Director presented the 
following:   

 
ADDRESS: 103 W. Patetown Rd. 
PARCEL #: 3600258551 
PROPERTY OWNER: Lillie W. Taylor 
APPLICANT: Jeffrey Rudolph 
 

The applicant requests a Special Use Permit for the establishment of special event venues to include weddings, birthday 
parties, anniversaries, etc.  
 
The proposed Place of Entertainment w/no ABC permit is located in the General Business Zoning District. The General 
Business Zoning District is established to accommodate the widest range of uses providing general goods and services to 
the community. The district is intended to promote high quality, accessible developments serving the needs of the 
community and surrounding area. There is no minimum lot size. 
 
Mr. Talton showed a map of the proposed location. He stated the following: I apologize for the lateness of our maps, that 
need to be reflected that this is a commercial, general industry zoning district, not industrial.   
 
According to the City’s Unified Development Code, Places of Entertainment w/no ABC are permitted only after obtaining a 
Special Use Permit from Goldsboro City Council. In addition, the following are approval criteria for the proposed use: 

 
1. Upon a finding that there has been an increase in the volume, intensity or frequency of the use or a use different than 

set forth in the special use permit, the reviewing authority after a public hearing may modify, suspend or revoke the 
special use permit.  

 
2. Six copies of the floor plan, drawn to scale, shall be submitted indicating the proposed uses within the structure 

including the location and number of all games and amusements.  
 
3. A satisfactory statement setting forth the method and frequency of litter collection and disposal shall be submitted 

with the site plan. 
 

Frontage: 20 ft. 
Zoning:   General Business 
 
Existing Use:  The property currently consists of a commercial structure with individual tenant spaces occupied for 
business.  The tenant space proposed for use as a special event venue was formerly occupied as a thrift store. 
 
The City’s Land Use Plan locates this parcel within the Commercial land use designation. The General Business Zoning 
District is a corresponding district for the Commercial land use designation. Mr. Talton stated the following: the Land Use 
recommendation designation is commercial. It is based off of proximately to existing major transportation corridors and 
commercial development.  
 
Mr. Talton showed another map and stated the map is incorrect. It is showing industrial and should be commercial.  
 
On June 20, 2023, Goldsboro City Council approved a rezoning (Z-7-23) for the entire property (Tax ID# 3600258551) 
from General Industry (I-2) to General Business (GB). 

 
The proposed Place of Entertainment w/no ABC permit will provide a large assembly area, restrooms and storage area for 
customers of the business.  Occupancy of the facility will be determined by Goldsboro’s Chief Building Inspector in 
accordance with the North Carolina State Building Code. 
 
Hours of Operation   
        •    Saturdays: 10:00 AM – 11:00 PM 
 
Employees: 1 

 
Due to the nature of this proposal, TRC was not asked to review. If the Special Use Permit is approved, a building permit 
and final inspection will be required for the upfit of the existing tenant space to ensure that all life and safety codes have 
been satisfied before occupancy of the facility. 
 
Mr. Talton shared an illustration of the proposed assembly area. He also stated the following: The property will use City 
trash service for collection. The concept is for a large assembly area serving as a flexible space for weddings, anniversaries, 
birthday parties, etc.  
 

Mayor Ham opened the Public Hearing. No one spoke and the Public Hearing was closed. 



11 of 17 
 

After the Public Hearing was closed, City Council entered into deliberation and voted on each of the four findings in order 
to determine whether or not the Special Use Permit should be issued.  

1. Councilman Gaylor made a motion that the use will not materially endanger the public health or safety. The motion 
was seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Matthews and unanimously carried.  

2. Councilman Broadaway made a motion that the use will not substantially injure the beneficial use of adjoining or 
abutting property. The motion was seconded by Councilman Gaylor and unanimously carried.  

3. Councilman Gaylor made a motion that the use will be in harmony with existing development and uses within the 
area in which it is located. The motion was seconded by Councilman Broadaway and unanimously carried. 

4. Councilman Gaylor made a motion that the use will be in general conformity with the City of Goldsboro 
Comprehensive Land Use Plan. The motion was seconded by Councilman Broadaway and unanimously carried. 

 
SU-10-23 Bar (POE with ABC) – East side of N. Center St. between E. Mulberry St. and E. Walnut St. Public 

Hearing Held and Findings Adopted. After being properly sworn in, Kenny Talton, Planning Director presented the 
following:   

 
ADDRESS: 136 N. Center St. 
PARCEL #: 2599961157 
PROPERTY OWNER: Frank Brian Foster 
APPLICANT: Kyle Merritt 

 
The applicant requests a Special Use Permit for the establishment of a bar in downtown Goldsboro.  

  
The proposed Place of Entertainment with ABC permit is located in the Central Business Zoning District. The Central 
Business Zoning District is established to maintain and strengthen the concentration of commercial, service, residential and 
institutional uses that serve the entire community and region. The district encourages a mix of high intensity pedestrian-
oriented uses compatibly designed and arranged around the existing compact core.  
 
According to the City’s Unified Development Code, Places of Entertainment w/ ABC are permitted only after obtaining a 
Special Use Permit from Goldsboro City Council. In addition, the following are approval criteria for the proposed use: 

 
1. Within that area of the CBD bounded by the south side of Ash Street, the east side of George Street, the north side 

of Elm Street and the west side of William Street, there shall be no minimum separation distance from residentially 
zoned or developed property. A fifty-foot separation distance shall be required for freestanding churches and 
schools.   

2. There shall be no more than two such establishments, with the exception of microbreweries, located per City 
block, defined as the length of street between two intersections. 

3. In the CBD, there shall be no minimum separation distance between two such establishments. 
4. Within that area of the CBD bounded by the south side of Ash Street, the east side of George Street, the north side 

of Elm Street and the west side of William Street there shall be no minimum off-street parking requirements.  
5. Outdoor activities associated with a place of entertainment must specifically be approved as part of any associated 

review and approval process.  At the time of review, the reviewing body may impose conditions on outdoor 
activities as necessary to protect the public health, safety and welfare. 

 
Frontage: 22 ft. 
Zoning:   Central Business District (CBD) 
 
Existing Use:  The space proposed for use as a bar was formerly occupied as a retail store. 

 
Land Use Plan: The City’s Land Use Plan locates this parcel within the Mixed-Use Downtown land use designation. The 
City of Goldsboro Comprehensive Land Use Plan identifies the following goals related to the Mixed-Use Downtown 
designation and desired development for the downtown Goldsboro area. The plan indicates that infill development is an 
action that is essential to the continued development of Goldsboro, this proposal qualifies as being infill development. The 
plan also identifies a goal as being to focus on improvement of the downtown Goldsboro area. 
 
Mr. Talton shared a copy of the map and stated the property is in close proximity to City Hall.    

 
According to the applicant’s submitted floor plan, the proposed bar will consist of seven tables, a bar, seating for 
approximately 45 people, restrooms, and a storage area.   
 
Occupancy of the facility will be determined by Goldsboro’s Chief Building Inspector in accordance with the North 
Carolina State Building Code.    
 
Hours of Operation 

• Wednesday-Saturday; 5:00 PM – 1:00 AM 
 



12 of 17 
 

Employees: 6 
 

Due to the nature of this proposal, TRC was not asked to review.  
 
If the Special Use Permit is approved, a building permit and final inspection will be required for the upfit of the existing 
tenant space to ensure that all life and safety codes have been satisfied before occupancy of the facility. 
 
Mr. Talton shared a diagram of the proposed use and stated the following: the property will use city trash for collection. 
Seven tables of bar seating for approximately 45 people will be provided.  
 

Mayor Ham opened the Public Hearing. No one spoke and the Public Hearing was closed. 

After the Public Hearing was closed, City Council entered into deliberation and voted on each of the four findings in order 
to determine whether or not the Special Use Permit should be issued.  

1. Councilman Gaylor made a motion that the use will not materially endanger the public health or safety. The motion 
was seconded by Councilman Broadaway and unanimously carried.  

2. Councilman Broadaway made a motion that the use will not substantially injure the beneficial use of adjoining or 
abutting property. The motion was seconded by Councilman Gaylor and unanimously carried.  

3. Mayor Pro Tem Matthews made a motion that the use will be in harmony with existing development and uses within 
the area in which it is located. The motion was seconded by Councilman Gaylor and unanimously carried. 

4. Councilman Gaylor made a motion that the use will be in general conformity with the City of Goldsboro 
Comprehensive Land Use Plan. The motion was seconded by Councilman Broadaway and unanimously carried. 
 

SU-11-23 Barber shop and Tattoo Parlor – North side of US 13N between Central Heights Rd. and Tommy’s 
Rd. Public Hearing Held and Findings Adopted. After being properly sworn in, Kenny Talton, Planning Director 
presented the following:   

 
ADDRESS: 2379-A US 13N. 
PARCEL #: 3620732392 
PROPERTY OWNER: B.L. Rentals of Goldsboro, LLC. 
APPLICANT: Raquel Quintanilla 

 
Mr. Talton stated the following: The applicants request is to establish a tattoo parlor within an existing barbershop.  
 
The applicant requests a Special Use Permit for the establishment of a Barber and Tattoo Parlor, located in the General 
Business Zoning District. The General Business Zoning District is established to accommodate the widest range of uses 
providing general goods and services to the community. The district is intended to promote high quality, accessible 
developments serving the needs of the community and surrounding area. There is no minimum lot size. 
 
Mr. Talton shared the zoning map and stated the following: the zoning map is showing a mixture of R-12 Residential 
Manufacture non-conforming to the North. A large part of the property to the South of the proposed use is General 
Business.  
 
According to the City’s Unified Development Code, Tattoo Parlors are permitted only after obtaining a Special Use Permit 
from Goldsboro City Council.  
 
Frontage: 80.8 ft 
Zoning:   General Business 
Existing Use:     Barber shop only. 
 
The City’s Land Use Plan locates this parcel within the Medium-Density Residential land use designation. This land use 
was based on existing residential development patterns, constraints to development (i.e., floodplains, wetlands, etc.), and the 
location of infrastructure such as water, sewer, and the transportation network.  Although the proposed use is inconsistent 
with the Medium-Density land use designation, the existing General Business Zoning District allows the use by right to 
serve the needs of the community and surrounding area.  
 
Mr. Talton stated the following: the land use map is calling for Medium Density Residential. Due to the nature of the use, 
the full TRC was not required. If approved, the building permit shall be applied for and zoning compliance inspection shall 
take place prior to any use or occupancy as the barbershop is already in existence and this is just the addition of a tattoo use. 
 
The proposed barber shop and tattoo parlor will provide two tattoo workstations, three barber chairs, a two-chair hair and 
hand washing workstation, lobby, restrooms, and an employee breakroom.  
 
Hours of Operation 
• Sunday – Saturday 10:00 AM – 7:00 PM 
 



13 of 17 
 

Employees: 4 
 
Due to the nature of this proposal, the City TRC was not asked to review.  If the Special Use Permit is approved, site plan 
approval will be required before the issuance of building permits.   
 

Mayor Ham opened the Public Hearing. No one spoke and the Public Hearing was closed. 

After the Public Hearing was closed, City Council entered into deliberation and voted on each of the four findings in order 
to determine whether or not the Special Use Permit should be issued.  

1. Councilman Broadaway made a motion that the use will not materially endanger the public health or safety. The 
motion was seconded by Councilman Gaylor and unanimously carried.  

2. Councilman Gaylor made a motion that the use will not substantially injure the beneficial use of adjoining or 
abutting property. The motion was seconded by Councilman Broadaway and unanimously carried.  

3. Mayor Pro Tem Matthews made a motion that the use will be in harmony with existing development and uses within 
the area in which it is located. The motion was seconded by Councilman Gaylor and unanimously carried. 

4. Councilman Broadaway made a motion that the use will be in general conformity with the City of Goldsboro 
Comprehensive Land Use Plan. The motion was seconded by Councilman Gaylor and unanimously carried. 

 
SU-12-23 Vinegar Manufacturing (Storage of Flammable Liquids and Gases) – South side of W. Dewey St. 

between N. George St. and N. US 117 BYP. Public Hearing Held and Findings Adopted. After being properly sworn in, 
Kenny Talton, Planning Director presented the following:  
  

ADDRESS: 200/204 W. Dewey St. 
PARCEL #: 3600022193/3600020213 
PROPERTY OWNER: Bevell Leasing, LLC. 
APPLICANT: North American Vinegar Co. c/o Kevin Merritt 

 
The applicant requests a Special Use Permit for the storage of flammable liquids and gases to be in the General Industry (I-
2) Zoning District. The General Industry Zoning District is established to accommodate the widest range of manufacturing, 
wholesale, and distribution uses. 
 
Mr. Talton shared a map and stated the following: you see a picture of the property with North George Street to your West, 
117 Bypass to the East. This district is established to accommodate the widest range of manufacturing wholesale and 
distribution uses. The zoning for property is General Industry.  
 
According to the City’s Unified Development Code, Storage of Flammable Liquids and Gases is permitted only after 
obtaining a Special Use Permit from Goldsboro City Council. In addition, the following are approval criteria for the 
proposed use: 
 

1. The proposed facility shall conform to the requirements of the Fire Prevention Codes of the North Carolina State 
Building Code, National Board of Fire Underwriters and the latest edition of the “Flammable and Combustible Liquids 
Code, NFPA 30” of the National Fire Protection Association.   

2. A dike that forms a basin equal to the capacity of the largest tank shall surround all tanks constructed above the ground 
level. All tanks shall be located at least twenty-five feet from any property line or in accordance with Section 6.3.9, 
whichever is greater.  

3. A security fence at least eight feet in height and three strands of barbed or razor wire shall surround all facilities used 
for the storage and handling of flammable materials.  

4. If there is a yard area between the fence and the rear and side property lines, the area not used for customer and 
employee parking shall be planted with grass and have landscaping composed of large trees spaced not more than forty 
feet apart and not less than one row of shrubs thirty inches in height, spaced so that they will form a continuous visual 
and opaque screen six feet in height within three growing seasons.   

5. If there is no yard area between the fence and property line, the area within ten feet of the inside of the fence shall have 
landscaping composed of large trees spaced not more than forty feet apart and not less than one row of shrubs thirty 
inches in height, spaced so that they will form a continuous visual and opaque screen six feet in height within three 
growing seasons.  

6. If the perimeter fence is greater than five hundred linear feet in length, the required planting is waived for the sections 
of the fence not adjacent to residentially zoned property or not visible from the public right-of-way.  

7. The location, size and extent of tanks, pumps and other equipment, setbacks, screening and fencing may be modified as 
necessary to ensure public safety. 

 
Frontage:   Approx. 620 ft. (W. Dewey St.) 
Zoning:     General Industry (I-2) 
 
Existing Use:  The site was previously occupied by a power transformer manufacturing industry. 
 



14 of 17 
 

The City’s Land Use Plan locates this parcel within the Industrial land use designation.  The City of Goldsboro 
Comprehensive Land Use Plan emphasizes that the purpose of this sector is to establish and protect industrial areas for the 
use of prime industrial operations and for the distribution of products at wholesale. The General Industry (I-2) Zoning 
District is a corresponding district in the Industry land use designation. 
 
According to the applicant’s submitted site plan, eight (8) vinegar storage tanks, each 14 ft. in diameter and 50 ft. tall and 
four (4) alcohol storage tanks, each 12 ft. in diameter and 20 ft. tall will be located in the southeast corner of the property 
fronting James Street. 
 
Hours of Operation 
•   24/7; 365 days a year 
 
Employees: 7 initially 
 
TRC REVIEW: Due to the nature of this proposal, the City Technical Review Committee was not asked to review. If the 
Special Use Permit is approved, site plan approval will be required before the issuance of building permits.   
 
Mr. Talton shared a map of the proposed use and stated the following: here is an illustration of the proposed storage tanks. 
You'll see four alcohol storage tanks on the far East of the property in the rear yard, 12 inches in diameter, 20 feet tall. Just 
to the West of those are eight vinegar storage tanks, 14 inches in diameter and 50 feet tall. 
 

Mayor Ham opened the Public Hearing and the following people spoke:  

1. John Smith stated the following after being properly sworn in: My name is John Smith, I am Program Manager at 
Balfour Beatty TPG, which is the business located right across the street from where the proposed vinegar 
manufacturing company is. I'm just here to represent the company tonight and we have 56 employees with an 
aggressive 5-year plan to probably get up to around 80 employees. I think we're just concerned about any risk that 
could be to the company or to the employees with the manufacturing of the vinegar or any byproducts that they may 
have.  We're just here to express concern and see what the outcome would be, of what this company will bring to 
the environment here. 

a. Mayor Ham stated the following: Mr. Talton, has this issue been considered potential hazardous waste, or 
not just waste, but hazardous for people working. 

b. Mr. Talton stated the following: it wouldn’t be considered hazardous waste but again, because of its special 
nature, storing of flammable liquids and gases, is before you tonight as a special use permit. We'll address 
those concerns at a full TRC meeting, if this site is approved. At this point in time, I don't have any 
evidence to submit that would support it being a danger to the public. 

c. Councilman Broadaway asked if TRC would determine the danger level.  
d. Mr. Talton stated, absolutely, if the special use permit is approved, the TRC will be conducted. Our Fire 

Marshal will be a part of that TRC review process as well as the building inspections team. They're going to 
make sure that the site is in full compliance with the State Building Code, Fire Code and any other federal 
codes that may be involved with this type of application. 

Mr. Smith stated: I think some of the concerns that TPG has is we have large roll-up doors and we have a large 
facility with people that could potentially be exposed of any of the smells or things that could impact our workforce 
and potentially impact delays to delivery of product and things like that to our customers so we just want to make 
sure that’s being addressed and that everything will be reviewed at that time. 

2. Craig Foucht stated the following after being properly sworn in: I’m Craig Foucht, North Carolina Global 
Transpark, Economic Development Region. I've been working with American Vinegar Company since the onset of 
taking this particular job, trying to find them a facility to manufacture vinegar. There's three things in North 
Carolina that we know: pickles (Mount Olive, right here in Wayne County), hot sauce and North Carolina barbecue. 
They all require vinegar and there's no vinegar made in the State of North Carolina. This would be the only vinegar 
manufactured in the State of North Carolina and is a value-add company to the state of North Carolina and to 
Goldsboro. I will tell you that the client, as I have been working with him has been very conscious of any safety 
protocols. There are permits that are going to have to be put in place. He has already reached out to several state 
agencies as to containment that has to be put up for not just the alcohol but also the vinegar so there will be 
containment walls that are put up there and I'm here to speak to you guys to just tell you that I believe that this is a 
good fit for us. It's bringing capital investment into our city and into our county and it's providing jobs and for that I 
hope that you guys will consider that for special use and to let you know that this is just part of their due diligence 
on the building they haven't even signed this but if they don't get special use permit then they cannot move forward. 

No one else spoke and the Public Hearing was closed. 

After the Public Hearing was closed, City Council entered into deliberation and voted on each of the four findings in order 
to determine whether or not the Special Use Permit should be issued.  

1. Councilman Broadaway made a motion that the use will not materially endanger the public health or safety. The 
motion was seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Matthews and unanimously carried.  

2. Mayor Pro Tem Matthews made a motion that the use will not substantially injure the beneficial use of adjoining or 
abutting property. The motion was seconded by Councilman Gaylor.  



15 of 17 
 

Discussion included the following comments: Councilman Gaylor stated the following: Until TRC is completed, and 
we are not going to know any sort of air particulate. I’ve seen vinegar being manufactured, it’s clean. I’m going to 
vote in favor, I am not against them but if the TRC happens after the fact, in a different situation. How would we 
know?   

Mayor Pro Tem Matthews stated the following: Kenny, can you explain what TRC actually is and that process? 

Mr. Talton stated the following: The TRC (Technical Review Committee) is composed of members of city staff and 
departments and other outside agencies such as the NC DOT, Seymour Johnson Air Force Base, the school board if 
applicable. We have an opportunity to present this item up for discussion to each member on that committee. Now of 
course, if it doesn't involve any school system or if it doesn't involve any jurisdiction of Seymour Johnson Air Force 
Base or involve any highway construction then we will reduce that list back to our departments here within the City 
of Goldsboro. The TRC is responsible for reviewing site plans for the City of Goldsboro and those sites again, 
construction permits cannot be issued until full site plan approval is being granted and again we vet each site plan 
with the committee to make sure that there are no concerns, that that there are no hazards, and if there's anything 
specific that needs to be addressed up front that we make sure everybody is aware of what those requirements may 
be in our ordinance or possibly outside the ordinance when it comes to building codes and things of that nature.  

Councilman Gaylor stated the following: if there was something for example North Carolina Department of 
Environmental Quality. If there was a state issue that would be fully addressed with them. 

Mr. Talton stated the following: It would have to be and most of the time, we have ordinance requirements that have 
to be fulfilled. In your packet, which also should be a part of the record, that submitted evidence, you'll see some 
requirements of the approval criteria for this type of proposed facility here in Goldsboro. It has to meet those 
ordinance requirements and a lot of times they'll refer back to either the US Code of Regulations, we will have that 
information available for us and again other references that we need to check to make sure that all codes and laws 
have been adhered to.  

After discussion, the motion was unanimously carried.  

3. Councilman Broadaway made a motion that the use will be in harmony with existing development and uses within 
the area in which it is located. The motion was seconded by Councilman Gaylor and unanimously carried. 

4. Councilman Gaylor made a motion that the use will be in general conformity with the City of Goldsboro 
Comprehensive Land Use Plan. The motion was seconded by Councilman Broadaway and unanimously carried. 

 
Public Comment Period. Mayor Ham opened the public comment period. The following people spoke: 

1. Phyllis Merritt-James shared concerns regarding NPO funding allocation recommendations for Rebuilding 
Broken Places. 

2. Carl Martin shared concerns regarding the Hawthorne Trail item and requested that Council reconsider and hold 
another public hearing. Mr. Martin’s comments are attached as Exhibit C.   

3. Karl Landgren invited the public to a Liberty Seminar to be held this Saturday from 10-4.  
 
No one else spoke and the public comment period was closed.  
 

Consent Agenda – Approved as Recommended. City Manager Salmon presented the Consent Agenda.  All items 
were considered to be routine and could be enacted simultaneously with one motion and a roll call vote.  If a 
Councilmember so requested, any item(s) could be removed from the Consent Agenda and discussed and considered 
separately. In that event, the remaining item(s) on the Consent Agenda would be acted on with one motion and roll call vote.  
Item K. Adoption of an Ordinance Amending Chapter 115: Alcoholic Beverage Permits of the City of Goldsboro’s Code of 
Ordinances was removed from the agenda during the Consent Agenda Review. Item M. FY2023-2024 Annual Action Plan 
Recommendations was moved to Old Business item c during the Adoption of the Agenda. Councilman Broadaway moved 
the items on the Consent Agenda, Items L, N, O, P, Q and R be approved as recommended by the City Manager and staff.  
The motion was seconded by Councilman Gaylor and a roll call vote resulted in all members voting in favor of the motion. 

 
The items on the Consent Agenda were as follows:  

 
Contract Award for Consulting Services – Grants Management Software.  The item was presented by Felecia 

Williams, Community Relations and Development Department Director.  
 
The Community Relations & Development Department has sought community development grants management software 
services from qualified firms to provide equipment and services for end-to-end grants lifecycle support to enable city staff to 
successfully manage grantee activities (pre-award, post-award through grants close-out) across multiple grant categories. 
The City advertised and initiated an official Request for Proposals on May 4, 2023, accepting proposals until 2:00 pm, May 
25, 2023.  The City’s Community Relations & Development Director, Information Technology Directors, and Procurement 
Manager facilitated a non-mandatory pre-proposal conference via Zoom on May 11, 2023 with 13 interested attendees. 
 
The City received 4 proposals on or before May 25, 2023 from: 

• Benevate, Inc. DBA Neighborly Software 
• Autocene Government Solutions, Inc. 



16 of 17 
 

• Geocko, Inc. DBA Forward 
• Valsatech 

 
The Proposal Evaluation Committee, consisting of Community Relations & Development Director, Information Technology 
Director, and Assistant Information Technology Director met to review and evaluate received proposals on June 21, 2023 
and submitted scored evaluations to the Procurement Manager on June 22, 2023.   
 
Pursuant to NC General Statute 143-135.9 “Best Value” Information Technology Procurements, Benevate, Inc. DBA 
Neighborly Software received the highest score. 
 
It was recommended that Council adopt the following entitled Resolution authorizing the Mayor and City Clerk to execute a 
contract for a total amount of $61,800 with Benevate, Inc. DBA Neighborly Software, for community development grants 
management software. Consent Agenda Approval. Broadaway/Gaylor (4 Ayes) 
 
RESOLUTION NO. 2023-51 “RESOLUTION AWARDING AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A CONTRACT 
FOR COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT GRANTS MANAGEMENT SOFTWARE” 
  

Distributions and Collections Division’s Valve Truck Vendor Change. Approved. The item was presented by 
Jamie Stanley, Deputy Public Works Director.   
 
The valve truck is comprised of a truck chassis and valve maintenance service body.  Both components were authorized to 
be purchased in the FY21 budget, but each has been repeatedly delayed due to the shortage of F-550 chassis available on 
government contract.  The current purchase order for the chassis remains unfulfilled, and the vendor has no information on 
when the chassis can possibly be delivered.  Our staff has identified an alternate vendor with definitive access to the chassis 
needed, and it is a 2024 model not a 2023.  Due to inflation and the updated model year, this potential vehicle is $6,583.30 
in additional cost, but there are funds identified in the Distribution and Collections budget to offset the difference.  
 
The lack of chassis has also delayed the manufacture and installation of the valve maintenance service body by E. H. 
Wachs.  The FY21 funds allocated for this vehicle chassis are currently encumbered on PO P2101026, which we would like 
to cancel and issue a new PO to the alternate vendor with those same funds plus $6,583.30 from the current Distribution and 
Collections budget without transferring funds from the Utility Fund balance or Capital Repair fund.   
 
The Public Works Staff recommends Council votes to cancel the original purchase order for the valve truck chassis due to 
failure to delivered and approve the use of those FY21 funds for a new purchase order to a new vendor; and approve 
reallocating an additional $6,5380.30 from funds already approved in the Distribution and Collections FY24 budget towards 
the valve truck chassis new purchase order. Consent Agenda Approval. Broadaway/Gaylor (4 Ayes) 
 

Amending Chapter 32: Boards, Commissions and Departments, of the City of Goldsboro’s Code of 
Ordinances. Ordinance Adopted. The item was presented by Laura Getz, City Clerk.  
 
The City of Goldsboro recognizes the need to maintain correct descriptions of City departments and advisory boards. 
Sections of the City Code of Ordinances related to City Departments have not been revised since November 1974.  
 
After a review of Chapter 32, several administrative changes are needed to include: moving the Engineering Department to 
its own section, moving the Code Enforcement Division from the Inspections Department to the Planning Department, 
removing Community Development from the Planning Department, changing the name of the Community Relations 
Department to the Community Relations and Development Department, and updating the duties of the Planning 
Commission. 
 
It was recommended that Council adopt the following entitled Ordinance amending Chapter 32: Boards, Commissions and 
Departments, of the City of Goldsboro’s Code of Ordinances. Consent Agenda Approval. Broadaway/Gaylor (4 Ayes) 
 
ORDINANCE NO. 2023-44 “AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 32: BOARDS, COMMISSIONS AND 
DEPARTMENTS, OF THE CITY OF GOLDSBORO’S CODE OF ORDINANCES” 

 
Amending Chapter 33: Police and Fire Departments, of the City of Goldsboro’s Code of Ordinances. 

Ordinance Adopted. The item was presented by Laura Getz, City Clerk. 
  

The City of Goldsboro recognizes the need to maintain correct descriptions of City departments. Parts of the Code of 
Ordinances sections related to the Police Department and Fire Department have not been updated since the 1970’s.   
 
After a review of Chapter 33, several administrative changes are needed to include: updating cross references, updating 
parts of the Code for the Police and Fire Departments and revising the Fireman’s Relief Funds to correspond with NC 
General Statutes.  
 
It was recommended that Council adopt the following entitled Ordinance amending Chapter 33: Police and Fire 
Departments, of the City of Goldsboro’s Code of Ordinances.  Consent Agenda Approval. Broadaway/Gaylor (4 Ayes) 
 



N'

C

O

y'

O

O

N

o

0003
w

Ej

C8

as

d> 

r7

d

Vm
ti

k

y

Y

N

Q

O

00

N

4i

N

V

N '

C1

vi ^ >> 

N

N

N

bA

c 

Q

a 

a`+ 

mb

a' 

0

0

CZ

i

U

O .

o '

b

W

W

dA ' 

a 

oami '" ,
o `

a

a 

e ° 

Q) 

N

U

N

00

u

ri

y

0

rA

c °

a°'°

r'  

V

tw

V) 

2

3

oM

A

b

co

cq

b

0

o

O

Q

o >°

y

03

10

0

co

0

U

M "

Cy

CD

cC

N >, 

c{ 

cz

C" 

U

W

0

0 ° 

d0
f-
1

coo' 

E2V

cw

r

ON

o

V '- 

W

y

C/

4] 

M

ti > 

p

O

CIO) >, 

O"  

rn
N

0

c" - 

N

c'-' ' 

N

O

00

m

U

P4

rM

C) 

b

a 

U

a

0

O [ , 

0

C

U

3

a

u '

a

apo

c

M

Cd

ctlU '.. 

0

3 °? .

o

C7

o

U

o

ca

o

ca

Zj

yO"; 

N .

o

U

W

QVG

3 "-

o

o

cC

Q

bo. 

s.. 

V

O

O

bA ' 

y

U

i

oN

o 

0

10

0 

X0
to

3

U-

0'

CO

O

Q

p

O

C
c

w0 >

Nuo

m3o > 
Ur° 

c 

O0> 

OUo

apo

e ° 

aA,

mo ° ° 
i

cl  

cz

o (

U

3

cz

ami

Q

N

Q0y

a_

3

VNp2OWA 

oal

B

0

W -

0 •

o

cd ;

0>  

N

o

W

d

03o -
0O — 

o 

o0" 

0

0°

a

O

40

poos

czC0

CU > 

ooO
C)

i

O

U

0> ° 

o

ab 

d

r

Q > 

0

fin~ 

Q. 

Q

to ?  

A °

b' 

UU`

o0obo " 

a 

Z

a

v °' 

a`

i . 

aUi

W

O

o 

Ov
wv 

U

v 

Y

3-

d .

o

od
O

U 

d °'

sNs

i

O
c 

rn0

O

0

OU

a0i

fA

r

O

o03_

U

m

b'

o

cd

O

Q

0

b0

0

p

Cd

oU

U

g

O

c 

rn0















































1 of 8 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE GOLDSBORO CITY COUNCIL 
MAY 15, 2023 

WORK SESSION 

The City Council of the City of Goldsboro, North Carolina, met in a Work Session in the Council Chambers, City 
Hall, 214 North Center Street, at 5:30 p.m. on May 15, 2023.   

Call to Order.  Mayor Ham called the meeting to order at 5:30 p.m. 

Roll Call.  
Present: Mayor David Ham, Presiding 

Councilwoman Hiawatha Jones 
Councilwoman Brandi Matthews 
Councilman Charles Gaylor, IV 
Councilman Greg Batts 

Absent: Mayor Pro Tem Taj Polack 
Councilman Bill Broadaway 

Also Present: Tim Salmon, City Manager 
Ron Lawrence, City Attorney  
Laura Getz, City Clerk  
Matt Livingston, Assistant City Manager 

 Adoption of the Agenda. Upon motion of Councilwoman Jones, seconded by Councilman Gaylor, and unanimously 
carried, Council adopted the agenda.  

Old Business. 
United Way NPO Funding Process. Sherry Archibald, United Way Executive Director, shared the requirements 

for NPOs to apply for funding for FY 23-24. 

The Notice of Funding Opportunity document which was provided to Council was discussed with Council and is on the 
United Way’s website along with the application. Mrs. Archibald shared the following: Step one opened last Wednesday 
and will be open until this Friday. Step 2 will be open next Tuesday. Step one looks at the criteria or the requirements that 
would be needed to apply for funding. Page eight of the Notice of Funding outlines the requirements for financials from 
nonprofits that are applying for funding (see below). Budgets under $200,000 would be required to submit an audit, a CPA 
review or tax returns/internal financial statements. Budgets between $200,000 -$500,000 would be either an audit or a CPA 
review and then over $500,000 would be an audit with a financial statement. 

Councilman Gaylor asked if the 990 or 990EZ would be sufficient for those organizations with budgets under $200,000. 
Sherry Archibald, United Way Executive Director, confirmed that is true. 

Councilwoman Matthews asked if those organizations that had received money last year had been notified that the 
application was open for this year. Sherry Archibald, United Way Executive Director confirmed that they had been notified, 
and the application was opened to the public.  

There were no further comments or questions from Council. 

NPO Funding Amount Discussion.  Mayor Ham stated that one factor that may impact the NPO funding is that 
the GWTA is requesting an additional $50,000 above what is normally allocated. 

Council discussed the NPO funding. 

Councilwoman Matthews made a motion to allocate $100,000 to the United Way for NPO funding. The motion was 
seconded by Councilman Gaylor and unanimously carried.  

Item A2



2 of 8 
 

 
 New Business.  

Wayne County NC Proposal for Detoxification/Inpatient Center. Dr. Corey Richardson, Dr. Ramesh 
Krishnaraj, and Jerry Hannah, ICGH Treatment Centers, presented the following:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

GOLDSBORO CITY COUNCIL 2023

Recovery ….
Not Treatment



3 of 8 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 



4 of 8 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Council discussed the programs and services offered by the Treatment Centers, and their new location coming to Goldsboro.  
Mayor Ham invited the group to come back once they get started, to provide an update. 
 



5 of 8 
 

City Manager’s Recommended Budget. City Manager Salmon stated that Councilmembers have been given the 
budget, and it will be online tonight. He asked when Council would like to have a meeting to be given the budget 
presentation. Mayor Ham stated that he had spoken to the absent Councilmembers and Friday, May 26th would be best for 
them. Council discussed the date. Councilwoman Matthews suggested 9:00 AM. Council concurred.  

 
Mayor Ham stated that the Budget Presentation meeting would be held on Friday, May 26th at 9:00 AM in the Large 
Conference Room. 
 
Councilman Gaylor asked about the Enterprise fund and asked that we look at the commercial and industrial rates, as well 
as the individual homeowner rates for water; he would prefer an increase that goes across the board. Councilwoman Jones 
agreed. 

 
Consent Agenda Review. Items E - H on the consent agenda were reviewed. Further discussion included the 

following: 
 
Item G. Amending Chapter 117: Pushcart and Mobile Food Unit Vendors, of The City of Goldsboro’s Code 

of Ordinances. Councilwoman Matthews asked how this pertains to businesses with pushcarts that may wish to operate 
outside of their own business. Council discussed how such language should be added with the manager, assistant city 
manager and city clerk.  

 
Councilman Gaylor made a motion to amend the agenda by striking Item G under the Consent Agenda items from 

the agenda of the day. The motion was seconded by Councilman Batts and unanimously carried. Staff will revise the 
ordinance and add it to an upcoming agenda. 

 
Mayor Ham recessed the meeting at 6:28 p.m. 
 
 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 
The City Council of the City of Goldsboro, North Carolina, met in Regular Session in Council Chambers, City Hall, 

214 North Center Street, at 7:00 p.m. on May 15, 2023. 
 
Mayor Ham called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 
 
Councilwoman Jones provided the invocation.  The Pledge of Allegiance followed. 
 
 

Roll Call.   
Present:  Mayor David Ham, Presiding 

Councilwoman Hiawatha Jones 
Councilwoman Brandi Matthews 
Councilman Charles Gaylor, IV 
Councilman Greg Batts 

 
Absent:   Mayor Pro Tem Taj Polack 
   Councilman Bill Broadaway 
 
Also Present: Tim Salmon, City Manager 

Ron Lawrence, City Attorney  
Laura Getz, City Clerk  
Matt Livingston, Assistant City Manager 

 
Approval of Minutes.  Councilwoman Jones requested a change to line 5 in her comments from pass cards to placard 

cards. Councilman Batts made a motion to approve the minutes of the Minutes of the Work Session and Regular Meeting of 
May 1, 2023 as amended.  The motion was seconded by Councilman Gaylor and unanimously carried.   

 
Presentations. 

          Employee Performance Awards.  City Manager Salmon presented the following awards: 
 
The Employee of the Quarter Award: Tara Johnson. Tara is always available to help everyone; from City of Goldsboro 
employees, no matter their job title, to the residents she talks to on a daily basis. Tara is very well-versed in all divisions of 
Public Works, and answers all types of questions, on a variety of topics. She is consistent every day, no matter the stress we 
are all under, and is an absolute asset to the City.  
 
Tara has been with Public Works for over 10 years. She has always been the front-line person to speak to all customers, in 
person or on the phone; she is the main contact for all Public Works phone calls. Tara is well known by most vendors for 
Public Works and is always available to answer their wide variety of questions. She handles everyone in a friendly and 
tactful manner.  



6 of 8 
 

 
Tara goes above and beyond her expected job duties. She is the coordinator for all Public Works activities, including 
retirement parties, our annual Christmas party, and other fundraiser events. Tara always coordinates with other City 
employees that need to use the break room for City events, such as blood drives or classes for staff. While completing her 
work duties, she also attends online school (ECU) to complete her degree in business management, and is a great mom and 
spouse too!  
 
Tara is a great friend to all that know her and is a very sincere and caring person. Tara’s exceptional customer and employee 
service reflect well on herself and the City of Goldsboro. 
 
The Supervisor of the Quarter Award: Rick Davis. Rick Davis responded to a cross contaminate issue with a caustic 
soda chemical delivery at the Water Treatment Plant (WTP) on Feb 6, 2023. Due to his quick thinking, he was able to save 
the City money, time, and frustration.  
 
When the regular shipment of Sodium Hydroxide (caustic soda) was being pumped into the bulk tank, the hose became 
clogged. Rick inspected the problem and directed his staff to disassemble all the piping to the bulk tank and to flush out the 
system and bulk tank. Everything left in the chemical tank was sent to the WTP mud basins to isolate it from the rest of the 
plant, and avoid any contaminates from reaching the drinking water. The first flush produced evidence of tank 
contamination, so staff continued to flush the bulk tank until all contaminates had been removed.  
 
Due to Rick's swift response and supervison, there was a limited estimated loss of $200 of diluted caustic soda and 
approximately 5,000 gallons of water to flush the system. If this contaminated chemical would have been introduced into 
the distribution system a significant amount of damage to the system as well as a monetary loss could have occurred. 
 
Rick's professionalism, integrity and customer focus helped stop a bad situation from becoming worse.  Rick’s outstanding 
efforts reflect well on himself and the City of Goldsboro.    
 
 Dillard/Goldsboro Alumni & Friends, Inc Proclamation. Read by Councilwoman Matthews: The Goldsboro 
City Council proclaimed their support for the DILLARD/GOLDSBORO ALUMNI & FRIENDS, INC. and their efforts to 
preserve the history and legacy of Dillard High School and Goldsboro High School. Council commended their commitment 
to providing educational opportunities for students in the community and recognize their contributions to the betterment of 
our city and urged all citizens to join in celebrating the Memorial Day Weekend 2023 and to support the Dillard/Goldsboro 
Alumni & Friends, Inc. in their endeavors to empower the next generation of leaders through education. Mayor Ham and 
Councilwoman Matthews presented the proclamation to Gary Packer and other DGAF members. 
 
 GWTA Appreciation Month Proclamation. Read by Councilwoman Jones: The Goldsboro City Council 
proclaimed May 2023 as GWTA APPRECIATION MONTH and further extends appreciation to the staff for providing 
safe, reliable, and affordable public transportation services to the citizens of the City of Goldsboro. Mayor Ham and 
Councilwoman Jones presented the proclamation to Don Willis, GWTA Director, and GWTA employees. 
 

Public Comment Period. Mayor Ham opened the public comment period. The following people spoke: 

1. Phyllis Merritt James spoke about National Nurses Week, which was May 6-12, and asked Council to proclaim the 
2nd week of May as National Nurses Week.  

Councilwoman Jones made a motion to proclaim the 2nd week of May as National Nurses Week. The motion was 
seconded by Councilman Batts and unanimously carried.  

2. Douglas Horne Jr. thanked the Council and city manager for assisting with a problem he had last year regarding 
DGAF during the Memorial Day Weekend. 

No one else spoke and the public comment period was closed.  
 

Consent Agenda – Approved as Recommended. City Manager Salmon presented the Consent Agenda.  All items 
were considered to be routine and could be enacted simultaneously with one motion and a roll call vote.  If a 
Councilmember so requested, any item(s) could be removed from the Consent Agenda and discussed and considered 
separately. In that event, the remaining item(s) on the Consent Agenda would be acted on with one motion and roll call vote. 
Item G. Amending Chapter 117: Pushcart and Mobile Food Unit Vendors, of the City of Goldsboro’s Code of Ordinances 
was removed from the Consent Agenda during the Consent Agenda Review. Councilman Gaylor moved the items on the 
Consent Agenda, Items E, F and H be approved as recommended by the City Manager and staff.  The motion was seconded 
by Councilman Batts and a roll call vote resulted in all members voting in favor of the motion. 

 
The items on the Consent Agenda were as follows:  
 

FY2023-2024 Annual Action Plan and Recommended Budget. Approved. City Council action is needed to 
accept FY23-24 allocation of funds by the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) from the 
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) and Home Investment Partnership (HOME) Program. In addition, City 
Council must approve the FY23-24 Annual Action Plan and budget recommendations in preparation for HUD’s submission 
deadline on May 15, 2023. 



7 of 8 
 

 
HUD has awarded $361,561 in CDBG and $293,636 in HOME funds to the City of Goldsboro for use to develop viable 
urban communities by providing decent housing, suitable living environment, and expanding economic opportunities, 
mainly for persons of low-to-moderate income. Additionally, the City will have available approximately $949,357 in prior 
year CDBG funds, dating back to 2016, $1,131,813 in prior year HOME funds, dating back to 2017 and $294,923 in prior 
year CDBG-CV funds, dating back to 2020.  The prior balances are as of May 4, 2023. 
 
Community Relations Department staff have properly executed the City’s Citizens Participation Plan by successfully 
noticing and facilitating one (1) public meeting, held on April 11, 2023 during the regular meeting of the Commission on 
Community Relations and Development, one (1) public hearing, held on May 1, 2023 during the regular meeting of the 
Goldsboro City Council, and provided a thirty-(30) day comment period of the draft plan from April 14, 2023 to May 13, 
2023.  
 
The 2023-2024 Annual Action Plan is the fourth year of implementing the Five-Year Consolidated Plan for 2020-2024.  A 
summary of the 2023-2024 Annual Action Plan proposed activities and use of funds is included below. Accomplishments 
will be reported in the annual CAPER.   
 
It was recommended that Council accept FY23-24 allocation of funds by HUD from the CDBG and HOME programs and; 

1.   Approve the FY23-24 Annual Action Plan and budget recommendations presented during City Council’s Regular     
             Meeting of May 15, 2023 in preparation for HUD’s submission deadline on May 15, 2023; and 

2. Authorize the Mayor and staff to execute and file the Annual Action Plan, along with the required Certifications, the 
SF-424, and Grant Agreements that are required to receive CDBG and HOME funding for and on behalf of the City 
of Goldsboro, and to make necessary changes to those documents where required by HUD. Consent Agenda 
Approval. Gaylor/Batts (5 Ayes) 

 
Amending Chapter 98: Streets and Sidewalks, of the City of Goldsboro’s Code of Ordinances. Ordinance 

Adopted. The City of Goldsboro recognizes the need to maintain correct descriptions of City policies. The section of the 
City Code of Ordinances related to Parades was last updated in November 2017.  
 
After a review of Chapter 98, section 98.80 needs to be revised to reflect the updated parade and special event policy which 
was approved by City Council at their meeting on May 1, 2023.  
 
It was recommended that Council adopt the following entitled Ordinance amending Chapter 98: Streets and Sidewalks, of 
the City of Goldsboro’s Code of Ordinances. Consent Agenda Approval. Gaylor/Batts (5 Ayes) 
 
ORDINANCE NO. 2023-26 “AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 98: STREETS AND SIDEWALKS,  
OF THE CITY OF GOLDSBORO’S CODE OF ORDINANCES” 
 

Departmental Monthly Reports. Accepted as Information. The various departmental reports for April 2023 were 
submitted for Council approval. It was recommended that Council accept the reports as information. Consent Agenda 
Approval. Gaylor/Batts (5 Ayes) 

 
City Manager’s Report.  
City Manager Salmon reminded everyone that the System Development Fee Study 45-day public comment period 

ends May 27th. He shared that the Air Show at Seymour Johnson Air Force Base is this weekend, that the Dillard 
Goldsboro Alumni and Friends parade and events are on Memorial Day Weekend, and that City offices will be closed that 
Monday. 

 
Ceremonial Documents.  
Tourette Syndrome Awareness Month Proclamation. Read by Councilwoman Jones: The Goldsboro City 

Council proclaimed May 15 - June 15, 2023 as TOURETTE SYNDROME AWARENESS MONTH and June 4, 2023 as 
“Tourette Syndrome Awareness Day” in the City of Goldsboro, as a special day to promote understanding, compassion, and 
acceptance for all of our fellow citizens who deserve and need our support to break the stigma that surrounds Tourette 
Syndrome. 

 
Peace Officers Memorial Day (Police Officers Week) Proclamation. Read by Councilman Batts: The Goldsboro 

City Council proclaimed the week of May 14 through May 20, 2023 as Police Week, and May 15, 2023 as PEACE 
OFFICERS’ MEMORIAL DAY in honor of those law enforcement officers who, through their courageous deeds, have 
made the ultimate sacrifice in service to their community or have become disabled in the performance of duty, and 
recognized and paid respect to the survivors of our fallen heroes. They further called upon all citizens of the City of 
Goldsboro, and all patriotic, civic, and educational organizations, to observe this time with appropriate ceremonies in which 
everyone may join in commemorating law enforcement officers, past and present, who by their faithful and loyal devotion 
to their responsibilities, have rendered a dedicated service to their community, and in so doing have established for 
themselves an enviable and enduring reputation for preserving the rights and security of all citizens.    

 
Armed Forces Day Proclamation. Read by Mayor Ham: The Goldsboro City Council proclaimed their support on 

May 20, 2023 for ARMED FORCES DAY and officially recognized the brave service and many sacrifices made by our 



j, 

aG

N

v

O

N

O .. 

ti

N

p

o

y

c 

y  .+ 

0 • 

D

O

a 

mco 

a, 

o ° ° .

fl

bo

0 ,

4

o

o -

5

UD

0

4

cl

o >, ? 

cd

N

o
f '

d

C7

o

ai

3 > • 

y

c 

3

a 

a 

ami ' 

0

cd

o

o

b' 

Vj

b

o

Y' 

o

ono

00
U ° 

w0

o

cd

o

O •

N

v) 

0

co >  '

A

Nc'

b °

a—

Y. 

64

c

n

cd

Co  ',> 

o

Q) 

o

a°

i °' 

o °

o ° 

3

cz ' ° 

3

o, 

o

3 ° ° 

c 

o

ani

o >' ° 

cd

3 ° ° 

o

1 ° ° 

ami

ami6. 

N

Ay

y. , ' 

b°
A ° 

O

vi

3

O

0

t, 

O

N "

t!0Ot! 

b

b ° 

c3

0

U

a) 

En

m

M

v, 

b

N

O

on

chi > " 

cu, 

o

U

cn

o

U

ON >, 

N

bn

o

b

N
i-- •- 

U

p >; -- 

V .

d

3

O

ti

N

4" 

O

O

N

i" 

O

A

U

N

O". 

O

O '

C

y .

d

0

co

O

y `

n +- 

0 ° 

y

L

U

b: , 

m

cd

p

y

U

c 

O

N

c

O '

C

y

O 

j  

O

p

co

om¢° 

o

N :

co
d 

ap ° 

d

O

o

p

n '

N

U

c 

p

ai

1

0

U

U > 

cC

bn

O

cn

y

O

c 

of . 

O

4. 

O " 

w + 

s. 

O

cn

O

53

P

O

co +-, 

N

O

p . 

a

N

p

w

N

r

yW
O

O

y

p

y

N

O

o. 

U> 

U

O

k

O

O

N ,; 

lutO
O

Nco
b .

t" 

cCS

a, 

3 ,, 

chi

p

N .., 

U

O

b

y ~ 

YV -
0

b

w

A

fn
1

I

as  

CA

O

O.

U

1:

3

p ° 

M .

d

p

U  ,

y > 

N , , 

o

C7

0 

p - ° 

o

O ° > "

I

p " 

o

tw

0

o

cd

0

co

o

p. 

4.  

0" ° 

7

330
o ° -• 

o+O- °

b ° 

o

en

0

w

3p,' 

IO , 
E

En '

cd -

z: 

0

0

0

0

q

r

c0

p " 

N

O

o - 

o

O

O ") 

er -

0

w

O

o° -

o

o >'  '

b

r, '

b .-

0

d

b

ocz

CIS

cz

4. 

L4

6

to

UUdy.

O-

Cvbc 
u

mo

UO
o " 

UpaU
U

U

U ° 

p

O

r-' 

d

VO

o3-

0

a 

t• 

O

rn

cz >

A

3

vs

3

3

4° 

v° 

w

o. • 

Q. 

3

o° 

to

00000







C



Item D



E

Rezoning request withdrawn

















F



RESOLUTION 2023- S- d -- 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR AND CITY CLERK TO

EXECUTE AN ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT WITH
ALTA FOODS, LLC. 

WHEREAS, the Goldsboro City Council believes that it is in the best interests of the
citizens of Goldsboro to encourage and support economic development through the recruitment

of new industries to the City, and the expansion of existing industries in the City; and

WHEREAS, ALTA Foods, LLC. desires to install certain machinery and equipment and
expand its existing facility located in Goldsboro; and

WHEREAS, the City Council wishes to encourage such development by means of offering
incentives to aid in such efforts totaling $ 30,000 ($ 14, 700 by the City and $ 15, 300 by the
County) over a 3 -year period based on an incentive agreement with a $ 2, 000,000 personal and
real property investment and the creation of at least 17 jobs; and

WHEREAS, the City Council has conducted a public hearing on this matter, as required
by NCGS 158- 7. 1. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and the City Council of the
City of Goldsboro, North Carolina, that: 

The Goldsboro City Council hereby approves the Economic Development Agreement
attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference) between the City of Goldsboro, 

and ALTA Foods, LLC. 

2. The Mayor and the City Clerk are hereby authorized to sign all necessary documents on
behalf of the City of Goldsboro in order to effectuate this transaction. 

This resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after this
7th

day of August, 2023. 

ATTEST: 

Laura Getz, City Clerk



                                                    
 

- 1 -  

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA 
COUNTY OF WAYNE 
 
 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
 
 

This AGREEMENT is executed this _________day of _________ 2023, by and between Company, 
ALTA Foods LLC, a limited liability company authorized to do business in the state of North Carolina, having 
a principal place of business at 105 Industry Ct,  Goldsboro, NC, 27530 (hereinafter “ALTA Foods LLC”), and 
Wayne County a political subdivision of the State of North Carolina, having its principal place of business at 
224 E. Walnut Street, Goldsboro NC 27530 (hereinafter the “County”) and the City of Goldsboro a political 
subdivision of the State of North Carolina, having a principal place of business at 200 North Center Street, 
Goldsboro, NC 27530 (hereinafter the “City”).  
 
 WITNESSETH: 
 

WHEREAS, ALTA Foods LLC desires to install certain machinery and equipment and expand its 
existing facility located in Goldsboro, Wayne County, representing a total non-depreciated investment of at 
least $2,000,000 in personal and real property, and to create at least seventeen (17) new jobs at this facility on 
or before December 31, 2025, with incremental achievement goals starting December 31, 2023; and 

 
WHEREAS, ALTA Foods LLC shall incur certain costs for installation of these improvements; and 

 
WHEREAS, the addition of these improvements will expand the County and City tax base through 

increased ad valorem tax value created as a consequence of capital investment in real property and machinery 
and equipment being brought into the County and City; and 
 

WHEREAS, the County and City recognize that increased ad valorem tax revenues will be generated as 
a consequence of this business venture and investment, and that a grant by the County and the City would be an 
incentive for such investment by ALTA Foods LLC to assist the same pay a portion of the costs of the 
investment, and that such incentives be designated as an “Economic Development Grant” to ALTA Foods LLC 
in the amount of Thirty Thousand Dollars (30,000.00); and 

 
WHEREAS, the parties hereto wish to reduce their understanding regarding the details of the Economic 

Development Grant and ALTA Foods LLC performance to this agreement; 
  
NOW, THEREFORE, for the mutual considerations noted hereinafter, the sufficiency of which are 

hereby acknowledged, the parties do hereby contract and agree as follows: 
 

I. Economic Development Incentives. 
 

ALTA Foods LLC will incur costs in adding machinery and equipment as well as additional real 
property at their current facility and the County and City will realize economic benefits due to the 
expansion of the ad valorem tax base.  As an incentive for ALTA Foods LLC to invest in machinery 
and equipment and real property at its existing site in accordance with NCGS 158-7.1, the County 
and City shall provide to ALTA Foods LLC the incentives set forth herein in accordance with the 
terms and conditions of this Agreement.  The County and City shall provide an Economic 
Development Grant to ALTA Foods LLC with an estimated value of $30,000.00, with such a grant 
to be made available to ALTA Foods LLC as set forth in Exhibit A. 



                                                    
 

- 2 -  

A. The County and City shall pay to ALTA Foods LLC in installments a total grant of $30,000.00 
as shown on, and in accordance with terms and conditions described in, Exhibit A to this 
Agreement (the “County and City Performance Grant”);  
 

B. ALTA Foods LLC agrees that if it fails to create the number of Qualified Jobs set forth on 
Exhibit A and maintain the Qualified Jobs through December 31, 2031, the County and City may 
recapture certain sums paid pursuant to the County and City Performance Grant. 

 
II. Representations.   

 
The County and City represent and warrant that (a) they have the power and authority to bind 
themselves to the requirements of this Agreement and (b) this Agreement is executed under the 
authority granted to the County and City under North Carolina General Statutes 158-7.1, The Local 
Development Act of 1925, as amended. 

 
III. Miscellaneous Provisions. 

 
A. Independent Agreement.  This Agreement and the conditions hereof only relate to the 

provisions and grants from the County and City set forth herein and do not limit or affect other 
commitments made by the County and City, the State of North Carolina, or other entities. 

 
B. Governing Law.  This Agreement has been drafted and shall be interpreted under the laws of 

the State of North Carolina.  Exclusive venue for any dispute shall be the General Court of 
Justice in Wayne County, North Carolina. In the event any provision is found by a court of 
competent jurisdiction to be unenforceable or unconstitutional, all other provisions shall remain 
in full force and effect. 
 

C.  Binding Agreement.  The parties hereto acknowledge that this Agreement and the foregoing 
actions and grants each represent binding contractual agreements among the parties hereto and 
that ALTA Foods LLC is acting in reliance upon this Agreement and the provisions and grants 
provided herein in its decision as to whether it will expand its investment in Goldsboro/Wayne 
County, North Carolina. 

 
D. Assignment.  This Agreement shall be assignable by ALTA Foods LLC to any entity that is 

controlled by, controls or under common control with ALTA Foods LLC or in the case of a sale 
of substantially all of the operating assets of the facility, this Agreement may be assigned to the 
purchaser of the facility so long as the purchaser complies with this Agreement. 
 

E. Survival.  The contractual commitments provided for herein and made by the parties hereto 
shall be deemed to continue into the future, survive, and remain binding upon future elected 
officials fully permitted under applicable law.    
                                                                          

F. Force Majeure.  ALTA Foods LLC shall not assume any responsibility for any event or failure 
to act that is due to any cause in whole or in part that is beyond ALTA Foods LLC control, even 
if advised of same, foreseeable or in contemplation of the parties, including without limitation 
force majeure, the public enemy, fire, flood, earthquake, hurricane, strike or labor disputes, 
boycott, the inability to obtain raw materials, labor or transportation, the loss of any public or 
private supplied utilities, the regulations issued by any government or any of its agencies, acts 
of God, or any other cause similar or dissimilar to the foregoing. 



                                                    
 

- 3 -  

G. Entire Agreement.  This writing contains the entire agreement between the parties hereto and 
may be amended only by writing signed by all parties hereto.     

 
H. Limitation.  No provision of this Agreement shall be construed or interpreted as creating a 

pledge of the faith and credit of the County or City within the meaning of any constitutional 
debt limitation. No provision of this Agreement shall be construed or interpreted neither as 
delegating governmental powers nor as a donation or a lending of the credit of the County or 
City within the meaning of the State Constitution. No provision of this Agreement shall be 
construed to pledge or to create a lien on any class or source of the County's or City's moneys, 
nor shall any provision of the Agreement restrict to any extent prohibited by law, any action or 
right of action on the part of any future County or City governing body. To the extent of any 
conflict between this paragraph and any other provisions of this Agreement, this paragraph shall 
take priority.          

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement on the day and year 
first above written. 

 
 

WAYNE COUNTY      Attest:                      
 
 
 
____________________________________  ______________________________ 
Barbara Aycock, Chairman                 Carol Bowden, Clerk to the Board 
Wayne County Board of Commissioners 
 
This instrument has been preaudited in the manner required by the Local Government Budget and Fiscal 
Control Act.   
     
    BY:        
                Allison Speight, Finance Director 
 
 
 
CITY OF GOLDSBORO     Attest: 
 
 
 
____________________________________  ______________________________ 
David Ham, Mayor                                                   Laura Getz, Goldsboro City Clerk 
City of Goldsboro       
    
This instrument has been preaudited in the manner required by the Local Government Budget and Fiscal 
Control Act.   
     
    BY:        
                Catherine Gwynn, Finance Director 



                                                    
 

- 4 -  

ALTA Foods LLC      Attest:                      
 
 
 
By:  ____________________________________  ______________________________ 
        Secretary 
                                        
Title:  ___________________________________  
 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

Performance Goals 
 

Year Annual  
Job 

Increase 
(minimum) 

Total  
Jobs in 
County 
and City 

(minimum 
as of 

12.31.23) 

Non 
Depreciated 

Capital 
Investment 

Increase 
(minimum) 

Capital 
Investment 
Cumulative 

Totals 
(minimum) 

County 
Grant 

Annual 
New 

Increment 
(maximum) 

County 
Grant 

Payment 
Year 

(Amount 
attributed to 
prior year 

achievement) 

City Grant 
Annual 

New 
Increment 

(maximum) 

City Grant 
Payment 

Year 
(Amount 

attributed to 
prior year 

achievement) 

2023 7 79 $2,000,000 $2,000,000 $5,100 $ - 0- $4,900 $-0- 
2024 8 87 $0 $0 $ 5,100 $5,100 $4,900 $4,900 
2025 2 89 $0 $0 $ 5,100 $5,100 $4,900 $4,900 
2026 0 0 $0 $0 0 $ 5,100 $0 $4,900 
2027 0 0 $0 $0 0    
2028   N/A N/A N/A    
Totals 17 89 $2,000,000 $2,000,000 $15,300 $15,300 $14,700 14,700 
         

 

 

Calculation Methodology: 

ALTA Foods LLC performance against the job creation, job maintenance, and the capital investment goals 
shall be reviewed by the County and City after submission by ALTA Foods LLC before September of each 
year, beginning in CY 2024 for performance year 2023.  The total amount of capital investment and job 
increases as of January 1st of that year shall be calculated; the total for each shall be expressed as a 
percentage of the respective total projected goal.  The average of the two percentages shall be the 
achievement percentage of capital investment and job creation and the grant funds that shall be actually 
awarded in and for each calendar year based on that achievement, subject to the County and City Grant 
Annual New increment maximum and the following.  Should the average percentage of the cumulative 
projected goal capital investment and job increase be less than 100% as of January 1st of any given year, the 
County and City shall accrue the amount of funds budgeted but unearned and such funds shall be paid out in 
the first year ALTA Foods LLC attains in a given year at least 100% of its cumulative projected goals, in 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 



                                                    
 

- 5 -  

addition to paying the new increment amount of funds budgeted for that year.  The payments by the County 
and City, should ALTA Foods LLC be current in all tax payments for that fiscal year and to the extent 
provided above that performance goals be met, shall be made by September 30th of each year beginning in 
2024, for calendar year 203.  This grant shall expire on December 31, 2026.  For clarification, if ALTA 
Foods LLC does not submit performance data for a year before September of the normal review year, the 
funds budgeted will accrue and be reviewed by the County and City during the review year following ALTA 
Foods LLC submission, but not after December 31, 2026 (that is, when the grant expires).   
 
 

Example of Calculation Methodology: 
 

 A B C D E 

Year 
Annual Job 

Increase 
Goal 

(minimum) 

Total Jobs 
Increase 

Cumulative 
Goal 

Total Jobs Increase Cumulative 
Attained 
(% = C/B) 

Capital 
Investment 
Cumulative 
Totals Goal 

Actual 
Investment 

Cumulative Totals 
(%=E/D) 

 
2023 7 79 5(67%) $2,000,000 $1,600,000 (81%) 
2024 8 87 15(100%) $2,000,000 $400,000 (100%) 
2025 2 89 89(100%) -0- $-0- 
2026 0 0 0 -0- $-0- 
2027 0 0 0 -0- $-0- 
2028 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 
Totals 17 89 89 (100%) $2,000,000 $2,000,000(100%) 

 
 
Year 2024 
 (For calendar year 2023) 
       Average % attained = (67% [Jobs] + 81% [Investment]) ÷ 2 = 74% 
      Amount due from County payable by September 30, 2024 = .74 x $5,100 = $3,774 
     Amount unearned and being accrued $5,100 - $3,774 =$1,326 
 Amount due from the City payable by September 30, 2024= .74 x $4,900= $3,626 
 Amount unearned and being accrued $4,900 - $3626=$1,274 
 
Year 2025 
 (For calendar year 2024) 
 Average % attained = (100% [Jobs] + 100% [Investment]) ÷ 2 = 100% 
 Amount due from County payable by September 30, 2025 = 1.00 x $5,100 = $5,100 

 2024 Accruals now earned and also due from County payable by September 30, 2025 = $1,326 
 Total due from County payable by September 30, 2025 = $5,100 + $1,326 = $6,426 
 Amount due from City payable by September 30, 2025 = 1.00 x $4,900 = $4,900 

 2024 Accruals now earned and also due from City payable by  
September 30, 2025 = $1,274 

 Total due from City payable by September 30, 2025 = $4,900 + $1,274 =$6,174 
 
Year 2026 
 (For calendar year 2025) 

Average % attained = (100% [Jobs] + 100% [Investment]) ÷ 2 = 100% 
 Amount due from County payable by September 30, 2025 = 1.00[cap] x $5,100 = $5,100 
  Amount due from City payable by September 30, 2025 = 1.00[cap] x $4,900 = $4,900  



                                                    
 

- 6 -  

 Definitions: 
 

“Capital Investment” shall be the ad valorem tax value of the property located in the County and City 
that is owned by ALTA Foods LLC its affiliates, or financing entities where ALTA Foods LLC or its 
affiliates maintain operational control of the property.  Any disputes as to the calculation of Capital 
Investment shall be subject to mediation between senior executives of the applicable parties, or if such 
mediation is not successful by an action at law or in equity with venue being in a court of competent 
jurisdiction in Wayne County, North Carolina. 

 
“Budget” unless otherwise agreed in this Agreement, the County and City shall approve a budget for 
the specific grant amount offered to ALTA Foods LLC by July 1st of each year that the respective grant 
is offered, for payment by the agreed-upon date. 
 

No provision of this Agreement shall be construed or interpreted as creating a pledge of the faith and credit of the County or the City 
within the meaning of any constitutional debt limitation. No provision of this Agreement shall be construed or interpreted neither as 
delegating governmental powers nor as a donation or a lending of the credit of the County or the City within the meaning of the State 
Constitution. No provision of this Agreement shall be construed to pledge or to create a lien on any class or source of the County's or 
the City’s moneys, nor shall any provision of the Agreement restrict to any extent prohibited by law, any action or right of action on the 
part of any future County or City’s governing body. To the extent of any conflict between this paragraph and any other provisions of 
this Agreement, this paragraph shall take priority. The County and the City are governmental entities and the validity of this Agreement 
is based upon the availability of public funding under the authority of their respective statutory mandates. In the event that public funds 
are not available and not appropriated for the performance of their obligations under this Agreement, then this Agreement shall 
automatically expire without penalty to either the County or the City 30 days after written notice to ALTA Foods LLC of the non-
appropriation of public funds. 



G



o

o

c

i

60
0

o

o

C3

okr) 

O

41

Ob

N

bcn[ 
b

O

En

M

O

W

r-' 

cd

tb

Cd

N • -- 

N  

cn

O , 

cd + 

O

O

O
N >

1 , 

Cd

O

vi

O

cd

1

cid

N

N

tO, 

W

ct

N

O

y

Gj

V

Q

cd

cn . 

c; 

O

cC

bA ~' 

ci

Cd

IC3

Q) 

r. 

cid ° . 

U

a

Q

3

It

N -

a

O

p

cn

O

n '— 

ti

p  

cd

W 

O

y

b

O

cd

U

U

Cil

cd

O

y ^ 

U

Ay

O

N

O

O

O

O

tQ

00

W

3

W

W

o

W

W' 

Z

CZV

U

Q, 

o

kn

N

O

Q

M

H

b

O



H



RESOLUTION NO. 2023- S 3

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING SALE OF SURPLUS SUBSTANDARD REAL PROPERTY
UNDER SESSION LAW 2004- 94 SENATE BILL 1370

WHEREAS, the City of Goldsboro owns certain property, 100 Whitfield Drive ( Pin # 2599557808) 
and S. Alabama Avenue ( Pin # 2599556817); and

WHEREAS, North Carolina Session Law 2004- 94 permits the city to sell substandard surplus lots
owned by the City of Goldsboro to adjoining property owners; and

WHEREAS, the Planning Department has identified the contiguous property owners and have
determined that the named lot to be a substandard parcel; and

WHEREAS, the City has received an offer to purchase the property described above, in the amount
of $2. 00 ( Two Dollars and no/ 100) for the lots submitted by John H. Oliver, Jr.; and

WHEREAS, Offeror has paid the required earnest money deposit of $ 2. 00 ( Two Dollars and
no/ 100). 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Council of the City of Goldsboro, North
Carolina, that: 

1) The City Council hereby declares the properties surplus. 
2) The City Council authorizes the sale of the property described above through North Carolina Session

Law 2004- 94. 

3) The City Council authorizes the Planning Department to contact adjoining property owners to
determine their interest in receiving the substandard lot. If there is interest from adjoining property
owners to receive the lot, procedures outlined in North Carolina Session Law 2004- 94 shall be
followed. 

4) If there is no additional interest by adjoining property owners, the City Council further authorizes
and empowers City officials to execute the instruments necessary to convey the property to the
Offeror. 

5) The terms of the final sale are: 
a) Buyer must pay with cash at the time of closing. 
b) Earnest moneys received shall be applied to purchase price. 
c) Buyer must pay closing costs. 

6) The City reserves the right to withdraw the property from sale at any time before ownership is
transferred and recorded. 

This resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after this
7th

day of August, 2023

Attested by: 

454t- ' 11 - 

Laura Getz, City Clerk(-) 



  

 





John H. Oliver, Jr,
102 Whitfield Drive

Goldsboro NC 27530
919- 344- 7964

July 20, 2023

Octavius Murphy
Assistant to the City Manager
200 North Center St

Goldsboro, NC 27530

REF: Offer to Purchase Property

Mr. Murphy,

I am writing to express my interest in purchasing a parcel of land owned by the City of
Goldsboro. The tax ID number for the lot is 2599556817. This is a non- conforming and I own the
adjacent property located at 102 Whitfield. Being this lot is non- conforming, I'm offering$ 1. 00 for the
parcel of land.

Thank you in consideration in this matter and I look forward to hearing from you soon.

S. s cerel ,

414. Oliver, Jr



205

604

203

303

311

102

606

307

107

301304

103

101

302

309

300

201

S

ALA
BAM

A

AV

WHITTEDCT

WHITFIELD DR

W
SPRUCE

ST

MILL
ER

AV

0 100 20050
Feet .

The data represented on this map has been compiled by the best 
methods available. Accuracy is contingent upon the source information 
as compiled by various agencies and departments both internal and
external to the City of Goldsboro, NC. Users of the data represented
on this map are hereby notified that the primary information sources
should be consulted for verification of the information contained herein. 
The City of Goldsboro and the companies contracted to develop these 
data assume no legal responsibilities for the information or accuracy 
contained on this map. It is strictly forbidden to sell or reproduce these 
maps or data for any reason without the written consent of the City of 
Goldsboro.

Whitfield Dr. Goldsboro NC, 27530
2599-55-7808 and 2599-55-6817



�����������	
��� �������������

���������������������� �!"#$�������������������%&���'�(�(���)�����'*�� ���

+,-./�012.3- 456758986�8:;<:78�=>0?3-�1@�A1BCDE1F1�� GHIJKLMNOOHPQ�RSIHTU ��=VWXYZ:�8<[[<<4\9\] _̂̀a_bcd�dG ecǸU�MfR_g�_d�hiijkkilmlnmo � � _d�RpU�lmoooojqoojolqrpfR̀ s]_db�NdtNcpGbu�̀Nv�wlooxy�r_̀s�z�{pcd|}pGp�wloox������� rNGd�Rp~�l�S��l�GH�PQ�sHPKU�molq�̀P��sHPKU�momn c̀�qo�]b|̀ �rbR̀ GNc o~oooo�� � |Gr���NOOKP�TH�����io�SL�oliol�}seN||�]b|̀ ]̀zlm r_zolaGzoobvzj Ǹz cN|̀ �Nr̀ _pR�molkokmq01.D3F203?1.�C/3,?B >,F�/3��,B2/ � C/=F/0?,3?1. 01FF/B,3?1.�1@��,B2/313,B�=1?.3��,B2/ �E2?BC?.A�,C�2D3>/.3Dp̀̀ Nc�Nd�f|̀ ubR̀aNr̀ pGp̀̀ Nc�gfNc_̀s�_Rdbv �f|bupd b��~NKHP gfNc }N|bGǸb GrRbs}Ns} rGbdbRrb�̀p ��q oo � � � � � � ��{ppd �C/=F��E2?BC?.A��,B2/���0,FC os̀ebU�ufR_r_eNc�}f_cd_R{ �|̀ scbU��� C/=F��1E5�@��,B2/���0,FC o>,F�/3�B,.C��,B2/���0,FC nyllo313,B�>,F�/3��,B2/���0,FC nyllo313,B�,==F,?D/C��,B2/���0,FC nyllo313,B�,==F,?D/C��,B2/���=,F0/B nyllo313,B�=F/D/.3�2D/��,B2/���=,F0/B o313,B��,B2/�C/@/FF/C���=,F0/B o313,B�3,�,EB/��,B2/���=,F0/B�� nyllo=F?1F}f_cd_R{�tNcfb op}va�tNcfb ocNRd�tNcfb nylloeGb|bR̀ �f|b�tNcfb odbabGGbd�tNcfb op̀̀ Nc�tNcfb nyllo=/F>?3rpdb dǸb Rp̀ b Rfu}bG NupfR̀Gpf̀U�] G̀|̂ dU D,B/D�C,3,1@@�F/01FC C,3/ C//C3-=/ �52�5? ?.C?0,3/�D,B/D=F?0/E11� =,A/ >1-Fookhm ojk� l lqiq ]d f _ ob̂Ǹbd�NGbN��.13/D�D2E,F/,3-=/ AD,F/, � F=B0D@?F/=B,0/ � �D2E,F/,313,BD �� �01C/�2,B?3-C/D0F?=3?1.012.3B3�+3�2.?3D 2.?3=F?0/ 1F?A��01.C EBCA� D?�/@,03 ,-E/-E ,..�C/=F,3/ 1�F �01.C 1E5�@�C/=F��,B2/313,B�1E5�@��,B2/ oE2?BC?.A�C?>/.D?1.D����B,.C�?.@1F>,3?1.�?A�/D3,.C�E/D32D/ 2D/01C/ B10,B�1.?.A @F1.3,A/C/=3� C/=3�5�D?�/ B.C>1C 01.C@,03 13�/F�,C�2D3>/.3D,.C�.13/D��F@���,0���B0��31��13 F1,C3-=/ B,.C2.?3=F?0/ 313,BB,.C2.?3D 2.33-= 313,B,C�D3 ,C�2D3/C2.?3�=F?0/ B,.C�,B2/ 1�/FF?C/�,B2/ B,.C.13/D�qoo �qoo Gzi jo qn o~�noo m l~oooo� � kj~oo jo~ooo aa o~�no im~mj nlln ��313,B�>,F�/3�B,.C�C,3, � � nyllo�313,B�=F/D/.3�2D/�C,3, � � ��



��������������	
 ������������

������������������������ !"������������������#$��	%�&�&��'(������%�)�� ���

*+,-.�/01-2, 345647875�596697:�;</=2,�0>�?0@ABC0D0�� EFGHIJKLMMFNO�PQGFRS ��;TUVWX9�7YZZYY[:63\�L]L̂ L_L�L̀ a b]LcS�KdPef�eg�hiihjkilmlnmo � � eg�PpS�lmooooqrooqolqLspdPctuega�Lg̀ L]pEa_�cLv�wlooxy�sect�z�{p]g\̂ pEp�wloox������� sLEg�Pp|�l�Q}�l�EF~NO�tFNIS�molr�cN��tFNIS�momn ]c�roL�ua\c�saPcEL]�EaLE o|oooo�� � \Es���LMMIN�RF�����io�QJ�oliol�̂tbL\\�ua\c cuzlm sezol�Ezooavzq Lcz ]L\c�LscepP�molkokmr/0-B2D1/2=0-�A.2+=@ <+D�.2��+@1. � A.;D./=+2=0- /0DD.@+2=0-�0>��+@1.202+@�;0=-2��+@1. �C1=@A=-?�+A�1B2<.-2BcpcL]�Lg�d\c_aPc�LscpEcpcL]�fdL]ect�ePgav �d\a_pg a}}|LIFN fdL] L̂\aELca EsPat̂ Lt̂ sEagaPsa�cp �jr oo � � � � � � ��{ppg �A.;D��C1=@A=-?��+@1.���/+DA octbaS�_dPesebL]�̂de]geP{ �\ct]aS��� A.;D��0C4�>��+@1.���/+DA o<+D�.2�@+-A��+@1.���/+DA nqo202+@�<+D�.2��+@1.���/+DA nqo202+@�+;;D+=B.A��+@1.���/+DA nqo202+@�+;;D+=B.A��+@1.���;+D/.@ nqo202+@�;D.B.-2�1B.��+@1.���;+D/.@ o202+@��+@1.�A.>.DD.A���;+D/.@ o202+@�2+�+C@.��+@1.���;+D/.@�� nqo;D=0Dd̂e]geP{�̀L]da op̂ v��̀L]da o]LPg�̀L]da nqobEa\aPc�d\a�̀L]da oga�aEEag�̀L]da ocpcL]�̀L]da nqo;.D<=2spga gLca Ppca Pd_̂ aE L_pdPcEpdcS�ucE\�gS B+@.B�A+2+0>>�D./0DA A+2. A..A2,;. �41�4= =-A=/+2.�B+@.B;D=/.C00� ;+?. <0,Doojkj olrr l lrkq ug d e o�aLcag�LEaL��-02.B�B1C+D.+2,;. ?B+D.+ � D;@/B>=D.;@+/. � �B1C+D.+202+@B �� �/0A.�1+@=2,A.B/D=;2=0-/01-2@2�*2�1-=2B 1-=2;D=/. 0D=?��/0-A C@A?� B=�.>+/2 +,C.,C +--�A.;D+2. 0�D �/0-A 0C4�>�A.;D��+@1.202+@�0C4�>��+@1. oC1=@A=-?�A=<.-B=0-B����@+-A�=->0D<+2=0-�=?�.B2+-A�C.B21B. 1B./0A. @0/+@�0-=-? >D0-2+?.A.;2� A.;2�4�B=�. @-A<0A /0-A>+/2 02�.D�+A�1B2<.-2B+-A�-02.B��D>���+/���@/��20��02 D0+A2,;. @+-A1-=2;D=/. 202+@@+-A1-=2B 1-22,; 202+@+A�B2 +A�1B2.A1-=2�;D=/. @+-A�+@1. 0�.DD=A.�+@1. @+-A-02.Bjroo jroo Ezi o o l|oooo o l|oooo� � nqo|oo l|ooo ]c l|ooo nqo|oo nqo ��202+@�<+D�.2�@+-A�A+2+ � � nqo�202+@�;D.B.-2�1B.�A+2+ � � ��



          Item ______ 

CITY OF GOLDSBORO 
AGENDA MEMORANDUM 

August 7, 2023 COUNCIL MEETING 

SUBJECT: Operating Budget Amendment FY23-24 

BACKGROUND: Council adopted the FY23-24 annual operating budget on June 20, 2023. 

DISCUSSION: Public Works – Building & Grounds 
The Public Works Building and Grounds division has been asked to handle the mowing of 
the enhancement areas previously managed by Planning.  The original funding was moved 
from Planning to Parks and Recreation with the creation of the FY24 budget.  Upon further 
analysis of the duties required, Ms. Felicia Brown, Parks and Recreation director 
determined that her department could not manage the enhancement areas outside of the 
Welcome Signs so the task was assigned to Public Works.  In order to accomplish the 
additional work responsibilities, Mr. Rick Fletcher, Public Works Director requested an 
additional $16,000 in part-time temporary labor for Buildings and Grounds.  The additional 
appropriation will be funded with a reduction of part-time temporary labor in the Parks and 
Recreation department. 

Solid Waste 
At the June 20, 2023 council meeting,  Mr. Rick Fletcher, Public Works Director, requested 
an appropriation of $231,000 for the purchase of a new trash compactor for the transfer 
station to replace the existing compactor that is approximately 40 years old.  Mr. Fletcher 
has received an estimate for the replacement of the compactor at approximately $349,000.  
As discussed at the June 20th meeting, the remaining balance of $119,000 to purchase the 
compactor must be appropriated in the FY24 budget.  This will be funded with an 
appropriation of fund balance. 

Transfers – General Fund 
At the June 20, 2023 council meeting, an amendment to the Community Relations Special 
Revenue Fund (G1108) was presented to address some minor corrections needed to the 
fund.  There was an allocation error made in June, 2020 when creating the fund and it was 
shorted $1,720.60.  I was not able to include that in the final budget amendment for FY23. 
I have included the transfer appropriation in the current budget, and it will be funded with 
an appropriation of investment income. 

Agency Support 
At the July 17, 2023 council meeting, Ms. Sherry Archibald, Executive Director of United 
Way of Wayne County, Inc., presented the FY24 non-profit funding recipients.  The list 
was approved by Council as presented. 

Agency Approved Amount 
4Day Movement $9,000.00 
WAGES $11,000.00 
Boys & Girls Club $9,000.00 
Communities in Schools $13,500.00 
Literacy Connections $5,000.00 
Arts Council $6,000.00 
Wayne County Museum $5,000.00 
WISH $11,500.00 
WATCH $15,000.00 
Total $90,000.00 

I



 

 
 

Stormwater Fund 
 In preparing the budget estimates for the debt service, I inadvertently made an error in 

coding a section of the new debt service to the General Fund when it should have been the 
Stormwater Fund.  The debt service in Stormwater is short by $78,391.00 and needs to be 
appropriated.  This will be funded with a reduction of contingency. 

 
 Purchase Order Rollover  

Included in the attached ordinance amending the annual operating budget for fiscal year 
2024 are the appropriations necessary to re-establish encumbrances for the individual 
outstanding purchase orders as of June 30, 2023 that will be honored in the new fiscal year 
(FY24).  Also provided is a purchase order rollover listing by fund and includes a brief 
description of the items/services.  Departments must submit rollover requests in mid-July 
after submitting final invoices for June 30 to allow Finance a chance to clear out prior year 
bill payments.  It was requested that rollover requests should be more than $5,000.  An 
analysis of fund balance appropriated is also attached. 

 
Items/services on the list represent construction contracts or service contracts that require 
significant time to completion or implementation which extends beyond the boundaries of 
the annual operating budget year from July 1 through June 30.  

 
Purchase orders for project funds are presented for informational purposes only and are not 
included in the attached ordinance as they are not annual operating type funds. 

 
The Local Government Commission of the State Treasurer’s Office recommends following 
the method of Reserve for Encumbrances that the City uses above.  The other acceptable 
method offered requires the City to hold open the prior fiscal year to account for 
encumbrances.  Although it is an acceptable method, the LGC does not recommend the use 
of this method. 
 
Analysis of Appropriated Fund Balance (Operating Funds Only) 

General Fund 

 
Stormwater Fund 

 
  

Date Description Adopted
6/20/2023 Ord 2023-43 FY23-24 Adopted Budget 1,500,000.00$  

Current Year Appropriations 1,500,000.00$  

8/7/2023 FY22-23 Purchase Order Rollovers 2,063,324.43$  
8/7/2023 Balance of trash compactor for Solid Waste 119,000.00      

Proposed 2,182,324.43$  

Current Year with Proposed 3,682,324.43$  

Date Description Adopted
6/20/2023 Ord 2023-43 FY23-24 Adopted Budget -$               

Current Year Appropriations -$               

8/7/2023 FY22-23 Purchase Order Rollovers 136,455.00$    
Proposed 136,455.00$    

Current Year with Proposed 136,455.00$    





P.O. # Fund Vendor Name For? Date Original Amount
Remaining 

Balance Justification

P2301167 0011 Developmental Associates, LLC
EQI Services, Training, Coaching, materials and 
printing for HR 31-May-23 22,116.00 22,116.00

Supervisors Training to be held Aug 1-
3 2023

P2301208 0011 T A Loving Company
FAK# 2023-00066 Paramount Theatre Restoration 
of facade 22-Jun-23 30,651.43 30,651.43

Work is scheduled for the repair of 
the façade.

P2301209 0011 JD Service Now, Inc.
FAK# 2023-00067 Goldsboro Event Center Pipe 
Relining project 22-Jun-23 45,728.92 45,728.92

Keep Open - PO created to fix 
plumbing issue at GEC

P2301186 0011 Azteca Systems, Inc. (Cityworks) Assorted Cityworks Software Modules - IT Dept 2-Jun-23 6,405.00 6,405.00

Training planned for June, 2023 but 
Cityworks was unable to hold training. 
Training is planned for July, 2023. 

P2300919 0011 CMS CONROLS
Replace Two JCI controllers for fan coils BC-1 & BC-
4 16-Mar-23 5,768.77 5,768.77

Supply Chain issues with getting the 
Fan Coils for our older  Controls 
System.

P2301177 0011 CDW-G
Cisco Duo Security Standard Multi-Factor Auth. 
Part #: DUO-MFA 1-Jun-23 16,361.25 16,361.25

License renewal for software. 
Awaiting invoice. 

P2301194 0011 ESRI
ArcGIS Enterprise Consulting Support-DNS 
Updating 2-Jun-23 15,820.35 15,820.35

On-going project that was unable to 
be completed by end of FY. Expect 
completion by end of September, 
2023.

P2301204 0011 Systel Business Equipment Co., Inc
FAK # 2023-00005 HP T2600DR DesignJet 36in 
PostScript Printer 2-Jun-23 12,649.88 12,649.88

The device was scheduled for delivery 
in June, but is missing a part.  The part 
was on backorder and we are not 
paying for the unit until the final part 
has arrived. Delivery is scheduled for 
July 18th. 

P2301202 0011 ATCOM Business Technology
FAK# 2023-00009 Mitel Phone System Equipment 
for phone upgrade 2-Jun-23 266,515.42 266,515.42

Telephone system material could not 
be delivered and implemented by the 
end of the FY.  Orders have been 
placed and the project has started for 
the backend setup. Once all material 
is available we will begin the physical 
changes needed.

P2301119 0011 Brady Integrated Security, Inc. Access Control Installation on 2 Doors w/ Doorbell 22-May-23 14,560.70 14,560.70

Supply Chain Issues with getting the 
supplies for the door hardware 
needed to complete this project. 
Work has started and will be 
completed when the parts arrive. 
Estimated completion by August, 
2023.

P2301099 0011 Jasper Engine Exchange, Inc. Transmission Rebuild for 15-May-23 6,808.52 6,808.52

per Daryl - just received transmission 
this week , still needs to send back the 
core - should be paid within the next 
couple of weeks.

P2300341 0011 Justin and Sons Transorts, LLC REBUILD ENGINE FOR FIRE TRK F-566 30-Aug-22 12,810.00 12,810.00 Rebuild not complete, Roll PO.

P2301132 0011 Griffin Garage Doors 18x18 replacement rollup door (Garage) 23-May-23 19,935.56 19,935.56

Per Bill Peter - doors are on order - 
will contact his POC today to establish 
install date.

P2300559 0011 Performance Automotive Group, Inc 2023 Ford F150 Super Cab 4x4 (W1E-101A) 9-Nov-22 42,200.93 42,200.93

Per Bill Peter - Funds approved in 
FY21/22 budget - Truck on order with 
possible November delivery.

P2301213 0011 City of Goldsboro
Highway Use Tax and registration fees for B&G 
Taxes & Tags for F150 Deliver in FY24 22-Jun-23 1,983.81 1,983.81 Vehicles have not arrived. Roll PO

P2300759 0011 State Electric Supply Company
25ft RD Tapered pole & Light - 14ft ALUM pole & 
Light 31-Jan-23 13,028.88 13,028.88

Per Bill Peter - funds approved 
FY21/22 - poles are still on back order - 
speciality item and are coming from 
Mexico.

P2201060 0011 The MAPS Group
PAY AND CLASSIFICATION STUDY - City of 
Goldsboro 7-Jun-22 4,400.00 4,400.00

Finance Dept Pay study, Per phone 
conv w/CFG 7/11/23 11:01am, Roll 
PO

P2300241 0011 Piedmont Truck Center, Inc.
FAK# 2023-00018 2024 FORD F750 REGULAR CAB 
W/ GODWIN DUMP BODY 3-Aug-22 126,683.80 126,683.80

per Doug Henricksen - truck has been 
ordered - waiting on dump body to be 
installed.

Purchase Order Rollover FY23 to FY24

Page 1 of 4



P.O. # Fund Vendor Name For? Date Original Amount
Remaining 

Balance Justification

Purchase Order Rollover FY23 to FY24

P2301213 0011 City of Goldsboro
Highway Use Tax and registration fees for Streets 
Taxes & Tags for F700 Deliver in FY24 22-Jun-23 2,030.00 2,030.00 Vehicles have not arrived. Roll PO

P2300506 0011 FSC II, LLC
FB2022-002 EB-5707 Stoney Creek Greenway 
Project 19-Oct-22 316,217.00 52,830.56

Staff awaiting final pay app from FSC 
II, LLC

P2301191 0011 Moye Fence Company, Inc. Install fence at transfer station 2-Jun-23 5,020.45 5,020.45
Scheduled for later this 
month/completed by 1st week of Aug

P2301089 0011 Carolina Environmental Systems, Inc
FAK# 2023-00065 Heil DuraPack Half Pack - 40 
Cuyd Garbage Truck 10-May-23 366,986.00 366,986.00 Awaiting assembly of Chassis

P2300346 0011 Piedmont Truck Center, Inc.
FAK# 2023-00023 2024 Ford F750 RegCab 
w/Extreme VAC LCT650 31-Aug-22 168,065.94 168,065.94

Awaiting hydraulic system to be 
installed before received

P2301213 0011 City of Goldsboro
Highway Use Tax and registration fees for 
SolidWst Taxes & Tags for LeafTrk Deliver in FY24 22-Jun-23 2,030.00 2,030.00 Vehicles have not arrived. Roll PO

P2301211 0011 City of Goldsboro FAK# 2023-00069 Transfer Station Compactor 22-Jun-23 231,000.00 231,000.00

Roll to cover purchase-after fund 
balance transfer of $119K per budget 
amendment

P2301210 0011 Deacon Jones Ford Lincoln, Inc
FAK# 2023-00068 Engine Replacement for Vehicle 
K1023 F550 Bucket truck 22-Jun-23 26,136.67 26,136.67

Vehicle K1023 F550 Bucket Truck 
currently in shop at Deacon Jones

P2301180 0011 Galls, LLC Honor Guard Uniforms - Fire Dept 1-Jun-23 6,134.97 6,134.97

Honor Guard uniforms needed for 
new Honor Guard members. 
Anticipated arrival January 2024.

P2301171 0011 Newton's Fire & Safety Equipment In Fire gloves and Boots 31-May-23 5,359.95 5,359.95

Fire gloves and boots to adhere to 
NFPA compliance standards. 
Anticipated arrival September 2023. 

P2300712 0011 Eastern Emergency Equipment, LLC Lighting and Striping on new Tahoe 12-Jan-23 8,941.63 8,941.63

Lighting and Striping of Battalion 
Chief Vehicle. Anticipated completion 
August 2023.

P2301183 0011 Fire Connections, Inc.
FAK#2023-00026 Assorted Fire Hoses and 
Appliances - Fire Dept 2-Jun-23 18,009.47 18,009.47

Fire Hose and nozzles needed to 
adhere to NFPA compliance 
standards. Anticipated arrival 
December 2023. 

P2301151 0011 Dana Safety Supply
Baffled Pyrotech CS Grenade- CTS 37/40mm CS 
Powder Barricade Penetrator 24-May-23 7,354.12 7,354.12 HOLD OPEN-INCOMPLETE

P2301152 0011 Lawmen's Safety Supply, Incorporate Safariland Armor 1351150 Tactical Carrier Vests 24-May-23 8,977.58 8,977.58 HOLD OPEN-INCOMPLETE
P2300779 0011 Dana Safety Supply 5231 CTS Triple Phaser CS Grenade - Police 8-Feb-23 16,682.37 5,509.90 HOLD OPEN-INCOMPLETE

P2300432 0011 Hoffman Mechanical Solutions,Inc FAK# 2023-00030 Boiler for Public Safety Complex 27-Sep-22 99,469.06 99,469.06 HOLD OPEN-INCOMPLETE

P2301196 0011 PCN Strategies, Inc.
Assorted camera and GPS upgrades for multiple 
Police vehicles 2-Jun-23 18,015.34 18,015.34

23 MUSTANG & 22 INTERCEPTORS- 
UP FIT AND EQUPMENT MAJ. 
LEARNARD HOLD OPEN

P2301198 0011 B&G Electronics and Communcations,
Assorted safety lights and  console upgrades for 
multiple Police vehicles 2-Jun-23 40,948.25 40,948.25

23 MUSTANG & 22 INTERCEPTORS- 
UP FIT AND EQUPMENT MAJ. 
LEARNARD HOLD OPEN

P2301200 0011 Radio Communications Company
Assorted radios and related equipment  for 
multiple Police vehicles 2-Jun-23 15,928.17 15,928.17

23 MUSTANG & 22 INTERCEPTORS- 
UP FIT AND EQUPMENT MAJ. 
LEARNARD HOLD OPEN

P2301130 0011 RDU Paving, Inc
FAK# 2023-00039 - Repaving Herman Park Tennis 
Courts electric cuts. 23-May-23 42,665.66 42,665.66

Keep Open - PO was one of two (2) 
created for tennis court repair; first 
vendor has completed their part of 
the project and this vendor is now 
able to complete their part as they 
had to wait for the first vendor to 
finish their scope of work

P2300250 0011 E-Z-GO Division of Textron, Inc
FAK# 2023-00062 E-Z Go RXV ELiTE Lithium 
Battery Golf Carts 1-Dec-22 267,481.49 267,481.49

Keep Open - Electric Golf Carts will 
not arrive before August; however, 
Council approved the encumberance 
of funds to lock in the purchase cost

P2301212 0015 Alan Jay Fleet Sales
FAK# 2023-00070 2023 Ford F250 Truck with 
Utility Body 22-Jun-23 61,405.00 61,405.00

Per Doug Henricksen - this truck is 
replacing Streets wrecked truck. 
(1146) This PO was keyed in June.

Page 2 of 4



P.O. # Fund Vendor Name For? Date Original Amount
Remaining 

Balance Justification

Purchase Order Rollover FY23 to FY24

P2301213 0015 City of Goldsboro
Highway Use Tax and registration fees for StmWtr 
Taxes & Tags for F350/F250 Deliver in FY24 22-Jun-23 1,834.00 1,834.00 Vehicles have not arrived. Roll PO

P2300232 0015 Piedmont Truck Center, Inc.
FAK# 2023-00041 2023 Ford F350 Crew Cab 4x4 
Dual rear wheel pickup 1-Aug-22 71,186.00 71,186.00

Per Doug Henricksen - truck has been 
ordered - waiting on utility body to be 
installed.

P2301213 0015 City of Goldsboro
Highway Use Tax and registration fees for StmWtr 
Taxes & Tags for F350/F250 Deliver in FY24 22-Jun-23 2,030.00 2,030.00 Vehicles have not arrived. Roll PO

P2201060 0061 The MAPS Group
PAY AND CLASSIFICATION STUDY - City of 
Goldsboro 7-Jun-22 4,400.00 4,400.00

Finance Dept Pay study, Per phone 
conv w/CFG 7/11/23 11:01am, Roll 
PO

P2300829 0061 Ferguson Waterworks
Hydrant Meters, Replace old hydrant meters that 
do not work properly 20-Feb-23 6,857.99 6,857.99

Per Don McMullen - he recently 
talked with his POC, still waiting on  
hydrants

P2300625 0061 Aquatic Informatics Inc
Tokay-Navigator to TokaySQL Upgrade - Part # 
TOKAY-SVS-UPGRD 9-Dec-22 14,555.37 14,555.37

In progress, estimated completed was 
June. Delayed by response from 
Publiq Software for integration. 
Estimated completion now 
September, 2023.

P2101026 0061 Deacon Jones Ford Lincoln, Inc
Ford F-550 4x4 192" Wheelbase Oxford White for 
D&C Valve Truck 28-Apr-21 62,953.00 62,953.00

Chasis for the valve truck body to be 
installed on once completed.  Funds 
aproved in FY 21/22 budget, but 
delays in manufacturing the chasis 
prevented timely completion.  Chasis 
Scheduled to be completed by 
December and will be sent to Ohio to 
have the valve truck body and 
support equipment installed.  No 
additional funds were budgetted in 
FY23 budget to purchase.  

P2101085 0061 EH Wachs Company
Water Valve maintenance Body for D&C F-550 
Truck 5-May-21 170,118.67 170,118.67

Funds aproved in FY 21/22 budget, 
but delays in manufacturing the 
chasis prevented timely completion.  
Chasis Scheduled to be completed by 
December and completed valve truck 
by Spring 2023.  No additional funds 
were budgetted in FY23 budget to 
purchase.  

P2300281 0061 Stantec Consulting Services Inc. WTP/WRF Rate Study Analysis - Fiscal Year 2023 12-Aug-22 20,710.03 4,508.53 Ongoing project

P2301125 0061 Black & Veatch International Compan
Flow Meter Replacement Project architectural & 
electrical drawings 23-May-23 12,000.00 12,000.00 Ongoing project

P2300622 0061 Gregory Poole Equipment Company
FAK# 2023-00044 Water Treatment Plant ATS 
Upgrade 8-Dec-22 257,167.03 257,167.03 CIP

P2301127 0061 Carolina Technical Services
Flow Meter Replacement Project 16" & 20" 
meters 23-May-23 28,126.07 13,048.64 One meter rec'd, waiting on last one

P2300621 0061 Gregory Poole Equipment Company
FAK# 2023-00046 Neuse River Pump Station ATS 
Upgrade 8-Dec-22 90,365.95 90,365.95 CIP

P2300430 0061 Utility Service Company, Inc. Master Service Agreement - 4 City Water Tanks 26-Sep-22 489,757.00 122,439.28

Maintenance service for the water 
tanks. Contractor not finished with 
the workd for FY23

P2101036 0061 Azteca Systems, Inc. (Cityworks) Cityworks Implementation for Asset Management - 14-Apr-21 64,103.38 22,547.13 Ongoing project

P2300281 0061 Stantec Consulting Services Inc. WTP/WRF Rate Study Analysis - Fiscal Year 2023 12-Aug-22 20,710.03 4,508.53 Ongoing project
P2300619 0061 CITI, LLC Radio Telemetry Upgrade Project - Phase III 8-Dec-22 316,387.79 316,387.79 CIP

P2300770 0061 Charles R. Underwood Inc
Repair damaged piping leading from the return 
activated sludge pit #3 3-Feb-23 36,970.30 36,970.30 Ongoing project

P2300618 0061 Aqua-Aerobic Systems,  Inc. Refurbish Sand Filter #2 at the WFR 8-Dec-22 201,701.99 201,701.99 CIP

P2300623 0061 Gregory Poole Equipment Company
FAK# 2023-00052 Westbrook Pump Station 
Generator & ATS Upgrade 8-Dec-22 815,165.16 815,165.16 CIP

Page 3 of 4



P.O. # Fund Vendor Name For? Date Original Amount
Remaining 

Balance Justification

Purchase Order Rollover FY23 to FY24

P2300660 0061 Laughlin-Sutton Construction Compan
FAK# 2023-00054 New Hope Bar Screen 
Replacement Project 21-Dec-22 335,400.00 335,400.00

CIP - delivery of barscreen week of 
7/10/23

P2300620 0061 Dellinger, Inc.
FAK #2023-00056 Bulk Chemical Storage Tank 
Upgrade 8-Dec-22 135,201.01 135,201.01 CIP

P2301084 0061 Turpentine Design
Architectural/Electrical Engineering Design for Bay 
enclosure project 8-May-23 5,684.44 5,684.44 Ongoing project

P2300762 0061 BDP Industries, Inc.
FAK #2023-00057 Computer Upgrade for agitator 
#1 31-Jan-23 28,917.51 28,917.51

Computer is at BDP but has not been 
delivered to Compost.

P2301163 0061 BDP Industries, Inc.
Drum Assembly, Wide Bay Dual Drive 35.5" for 
compost agitator 30-May-23 80,308.03 80,308.03 Drum is on order

P2301065 0061 Piedmont Truck Center, Inc.
FAK# 2023-00064 WSTRN STR 47XPRL-27X 
Tandem Axle Truck w/Dump Body 2-May-23 168,515.00 168,515.00 Truck is on order

P2301213 0061 City of Goldsboro

Highway Use Tax and registration fees for 
PU/Compost Taxes & Tags  Dump Truck Deliver 
FY24 22-Jun-23 2,030.00 2,030.00 Vehicles have not arrived. Roll PO

P2201058 0070 CDW-G Ruckus T310 Series Wireless Access Point 3-Jun-22 9,531.51 9,531.51
Supply chain issues impacting 
materials; no eta as of today

P2300159 F3111 Atlantic Coast Fire Truck 2023 Smeal Rear Mount 75' Aerial Truck 18-Jul-22 1,117,653.00 1,117,653.00
New apparatus anticipated around 
December 2023. 

P2006286 G1106 Brady Integrated Security, Inc. Proposal-Security System 1-Jul-19 33,085.81 20,968.62

Supply chain issues impacting 
materials; expected to be finished by 
end of Aug 2023

P2300846 G1106 CMS CONROLS HVAC Repairs/Labor-Replace/Install Sensors 22-Feb-23 8,209.08 8,209.08 INCOMPLETE-IT

P2300979 G1106 Siemens Industry, Inc. Rooftop Mounted Chiller Repairs - Police 29-Mar-23 18,126.15 18,126.15
WORK COMPLETED, WAITING ON 
INVOICE

P2100777 R1103 David E. Gall, Architect P.A. Concourse Roof Addition-GWTA Transfer Center 22-Jan-21 42,055.06 11,072.72
Phone Conv w/CFG 7/13/23 3:26pm. 
Roll PO

P2201055 S1108 CDM Smith Inc Eng. Services-Utility Merger/Regionalization Study 3-Jun-22 100,000.00 67,974.00

On-going project (No payments made 
to date)(Partial payment made on 6-
22-23)

P2200870 T2201 CDM Smith Inc
SW Infrastructure Inventory/Condition 
Assessment 31-Mar-22 1,567,900.00 413,591.85

On-going project (Partial payment 
made on 6-30-22)(Partial payment 
made on 6-29-23)

P2200760 T2201 Super Cast Inc 18" HDPE pipe in 20 ft le 28-Feb-22 9,819.81 7,726.66

The account number for the Vine 
Street Project is: T2201-8487-77703.  
The budget was $40,000.00.  Delays in 
acquiring supplies pushed them into 
FY23.   

Total 8,748,824.51 6,786,384.37

Page 4 of 4



ci

cu

c;

j

as° 

0

id

0 -

o

40
co

Oo

El , 

044
3

cd

O

N

y

b

N

m

N

V] 

sem. ° 

t. 

O . 

V

0

3 ) ~ 

N

El

0

W

im. 

O ° 

y0

4, 

ani ° 

o

0

to

115. 

o

o

ami

o

4, ~ 

o

O

0 ° 

b

Uq

w

Cd

p

Cd

0 ~ 

10

C7

P, 

o

4 -

o

O

Q• 

0° 

O

p ¢. 

t .

d

0.

04 -

0

N' 

V

a04
o

Q. 

U

p

O

Cd

0

o ,,

0

0 '

C .

W. 

Ch

3

a.

fl 

q

v

O 

W

v 

vex

vi
m

v 

o

v - 

v 

Un
C) 

v)  

0

0

do

du~ 

d5

d'

y

d 

d- 

d

dbe

w

o0

how - '.

0

OR 

9 

9

C, 

C14
N

x

3w `

L'°' 

30

3 ( 

a ° 

3: 

z 

N `+ 

0. 

N

t1

N

y

H § 

0

R

0

0

Q) 

ti

C7

C7

a

w

U. 

P

0

Q. 

v 

o. 

cz" 

a

O

cc

m

O

C

y

to

to

U

ami

Lo

413

CeV

U

cc

cam

NLd

Q) 
Q) 

o

co

E

zi

w

a 
Q' 

q

O

ca

o

4 

c 

Q

Cd

U

0

USW

603- 

609- 

Go)- 

609- 

cis

mCD

maNi

Wp

Cl) °' 

zs

o

Lo

W

o

cq

CYS

06 

4

ci

ci

oo

P4

Im

N

I" 

L- 

L

N

w

w

w

LO  

00

m

It

t- 

m

cq

69

bs

EA

Hs

EA

O

6'1

O

O

cMo

Cl1

L6

N

CO

00

as

L

C!  

m

cooLO

a) 

m

ci

06

00

N

U

es

cis

64

Go 

cis

10LOo64CV

cc

m

Cto

to

U

ami

bi) 

1, 4' 

a

chi - 

U

O

MA

O

o

a4 -

0y' 

E

zi

to

4 

P4

a Q' 

q

O

ca

o

4 

c 

Cd

U

0

USW

yd. 

Wp
Cl) °' 

zs

F ° 

w

d

W

o

P4

o

z

meq

W

w

C6

w

w

w

x

h

a

H 

10LOo64CV



oL-

o00cV
cD

o

cD

OD

d4

V

C

O

0

00

d' 

r --

q

F. 

d

L -

4

CD

Lo

0

L6

t

m

to

A

ti

O

0q

oo

o

ma00o 

LO

CG7

Q

000

O

cz

O   

W

C) 

t0

l

O

O

t0

o

Lo

d' 

00

ai

a

000

L- 

n .

i

CmoOO

y

o -

4

N

N

o

0

o

co

to

o

b4

m

CD

O

O

O

Co

0

0

CV ' 

O

ell

i 

C

O
n

m

O

00

CrJ

it

00

d

CDD '

It( 

s 

o= + 

O

d

U

N

ds

o

cD

c

0

C

00

o

t!'

J

tfJ

m

t - 

CC

ti

COV
II

Locq

co

m

O

LO

m

611® 

eo 

0001

LO

100

co

LO

m

L- 

00

N

r -

i

6911

e& 

6m') 

II  

O

O

O

O

CSOL

O

00

O

O

g

v

GI

N

0oIt00

co

COD

0

C

00

o

ifJ

1od

O

m

t - 

0

o 

N

w

O

0q

oo

cm9

LO

CG7

0

m

0

611® 

eo 

0001

LO

100

co

LO

m

L- 

00

N

r -

i

6911

e& 

6m') 
II  

O

O

O

O

CSOL
O

00

O

O

g

v

GI

N

0oIt00
co

0

0

Lq

o

0

o

00

0

1od
O

m

t - 

SIJ

o 

N

w

00

00

0q

oo

w

LO

LO

611® 

eo 

0001

LO

100

co

LO

m
L- 

00

N

r -

i

6911

e& 

6m') 
II  

O

O

O

O

CSOL
O

00

O

O

g

v

GI

N

0oIt00
co

0

0

0

0

o

m

1od
O

m

t - 

LO

o 

N

w

0q

oo

w

LO

LO

d

o

C 

O

m

o

co

o

Lo

d' 

00

ai

o

o

c 

m

o

0

o

co

to

o

N

m

O

m

00

CVd

O

O

r+ 

m

m

CV

00

m

O

O

m

O

o= + 

O

d

N

o0

00

O

0) 

O

o

g

0

0

0

0

O

C+

J- 

d 

LO

CO D

t- 

LO

m

COV

m

00

GAI

w

64

GOD

GOD- 

64

GOD, 

6c. 

59

69

E» 

00

O
1-

4

O

00

CV

m

O

m

Z

O

O

to

O

d4

O

10

m
L- 

m

O

00

10

N

00

O

O

O

O1

CD

m

It, 

c0

t0

00 ":

v

O

m

O

CV

m

CD

00

C

d

6

g

00

C, 

00

C6

00

4

oS

06

O

O

06

C

CD

16

C

16

CC

O

cD

d

m

00

N

L' 

CV

0

N

O ,--

1

O

CV

00 = 

o

O

N

m

CV

N

m

CV ,--

i

O

O

O

1-+ 

O

O

L

l

00

00

CV

O

m

o

o

CV

00

O

CV

N

00

CO

m

O

O

CD

0

00

00

d

LO

c7

i0

l

O

CV

c0

i0

U-) 

cD

m

l

i0

t

O

cq

1-

4

1-

4

O

d

CV

CV

d

d' 

EA

fA

co } 

GG

EH

w

y} 

ff_'
I

EL? 

H} 

Ef3

GCI

0

O

o

i

CV

O

CV

c*

J

m

0

O

0

m

rM

O

00

O

00

O

O

C1

CD

CD

m

o

00

m

C

C

d

O

dg

06 ' 

O

00

4

4

00

C

06

L6

O 

CD

d

o

O

CV

t0

N

O

O

m

0

t - 

i.

0

L

0

m

O

O

L

O

O

O

CV

O

CV

V

00

m

d• 

CD

r -

i

CO

00

CV

Cl1, 

00 •-+ 

6') 

iO

00

ao

O

o

ul 

ell

o 

m

00

Ef} 

Hs

H3

69

64

Go} 

64

W

69

Ef3

Ef3

kco
l

COV

c

mV

CcmV

meq

CNV

Cml

N

N

cq

eq

eq

cq

eq

cq

CD

occ
cD

cc

o

co

an

an  

an

an  

cn

an ° 

on

to

to

PQ

s°. 

PQ

al

O

Cq

PG

P 

f. 

y .. 

Q

O

m

O

O^ 

O

m

O '

y

m

d 

O ,' 

O

O

41

4J

4JCd

O

N

0

a) 

5

1~ .

o

m

O ^

d . ,.,

0

a) 

4

m  

s. 

R. 

w

o  

c, '  ,' 

d  -

d

v

0

Q  

aa)
i `

cr°z

ami ° -   

O

A

0

m , 

w  .

0

O

m

c ' 

t~ 

a

O '

0

a)  

m

O

q ' 

s. 

c. 

rr '

d

C)  ^

c3

o

o

cl ^

O

bJ

Q

m

m

m •.. 

a) 

q ' 

m

O

m 

m

m

Lq

m

m

Co

m

m

F  

d, 

m

m  

d, 

m

o

U

O

m

do

E- 

5 

0.' 

o ' . 

s°
a

a  

U  

v

U ` 

q

o. 

m

Gocn
r. 

a

d, 

zy

w

m . ° 

U

a7

a) . 

d' 

a) 

a

0

m

m ... 

O , 

a) >, + .

5

m

m

m :. 

m

Cd

d .

x

m

O 

m ,-

1 ..

R' 

m °?

3

a3 + 

s~ 

m  

U

m

CdA
m  

m

a) 

o

o

a '

3

d

A

G 

d

GL

d

m

E' 

cd !

3

d

O

Z

G. 

d

t 

4

d

t3

Cd

d

cd

c ° 

O

X

e 

y

cV

m ° .

d

eV

m

R. 

m

N

k "  

C4

CV

pp

ie

cV . °' 

F

cd

w

m

cv

W ,~ 

IL4

cq

N

a) 

a) 

CZ

Wym

cli

O

0

ocd
m :

V

m .

d

cd

0V

y

WQ

O

co

m

cd

cd

cd

a.

d

cd

a)

y

aO
t. 

O  $

4 . 

is

d

4 

i. 

0

A. 

4, 

bf

FUtnFF
0

c

0

d

0

m

0

OP- 
P- 

U

0

F

F

PL

0

0 /)

FaF

ci. 

FQG 

o

Ea
E 

E- 

U) 

E

E, 



0

0

0

CC) 
0

0

0

0

0

N

0

CeD
L- 

N

0

o

cD

CD

cq

0

0

m

0

m

m

0o00ooCoco
occ
cD

tet! 

It

aim

o

m0L- 

cD

co

o

co

o

0

u

14

ci

cco

r

vias -
4

Cl

o

o

L6

o

L6

0000000000
0co
co

00

0o

e

Lo

0  

woOo
o

c1

N

000Lo00LO000
0co
co 

m

0

IV

c, 

10"

00

c1

N

N

o

N

CO

o

C6

cc

Ci

rS

oLd

L6

o

cc

ci

cc

N

N

cc

L6

00

00

06

ce

co

4ci
4

y

a 

cq

co

co

r+ 

mw
O
t- 

0

00

00

00

cq

cq

w

r -

q

ci

A

A

G09- 

0

0000000000
0

0mcD
c) 

Nay
o

wt-

LoMt- 
o

LO

00cD(
Lo

t- 

00
0

0m

0000
000co
ca

00000000000
0

o00
kn

t- 

N

C11oo101" 
co

00L-

cM0t- 
cq

0
1

CD

r,

cq

0000
w00

1114

C11

a

o000000006
6

cfsciits
00 - 

CYS

ci4cir
4

CY6

ciL--

ciciU 
L6

6
c

LrsN

o6
Nci

4044
N

0

0

0

cq

LO

0

10

cq (

M

t- 

00

00

LO

m

o = 

LO

0

cm

N

1-
4

0

cv

cq -

4

Lo "

C

w

Lo -

I

cq "

r

0

ca

Lo

a) 

0ooLO0041
000
r -

I

C11mcD
LO

m -

0.

4cg0)
N

l!

t

mouo111:
ro

m

oN
N

Nco

10mm
mmt- 
m

cc

o

C

cS

cc

ci

C6e
L6

L

o

C6

4
t- 

ci

4

L6

N

C6

4

1

cc

066
L

N

6

L6
C

cC

ci

N - 

oo

L

C4

L6
CS

Ci

6

ci

cc

q

N

N

o
t- '

t

w

cq

co

0

00

It

m

N

o

N

LO

co

m

cD

co

0

0

o

q

m

cli

m

w

00

0

y

cYJ

d

oo
t- 

cD

N

cel

0

It

t- 

00  

cq

o'
J

c+

D

LO

w

y

m

dt

cn

CD

cc

00

ci

ch

t` 

O

cr - 

C  

cc

ci

C

co

1-

4

1-
4

0

0

0

0

0000
o

w

LO00
o

LO

0

0

00

00000000
0

0

0

0

o = 

o

cq

0

0

o

cq

w

o

o

0

00

0

0 .

1

cq

0

0

0

0

N

0

0

0

cli

C6

o

ci

C6

6

ci

ci

c

o

u6

t--: 

ci

cc

o

Ci

o

o

L6

ci

00

o

N

ci -

4

o 

r

o

ci

4 

c] 

0

cI

10

0

0

w

LO

O

aV

LO

0

cq

0

w

1-
1

0

0 -+ 

I -

q

w

Lo

r•+ 

N

N

0

ti

0 - 

o  

cq

CD

w

cD

CD

X

0

0

L

m

cD

o

1-

4

1+ 

0

0

N

0

0

m

m

0

N
L-

IZ14

0

cD

o

cf -

4

C

t- 

6

L

4
cr - 

ci

cfl

L--: '

IF

o

4

cc

t- 

t- - 

cl

L

ci

V5

0

06

e (

6
ci

cD

m

LO

N

N

w

M

O) 

LO

co

L

M

cen

m

m

m

m ,-+ 

cl

M

c1

cc

w •- 

c] 

m

co

Lo

0 + 

m

m

co

ulJ

mU
ci

C

t- 

o

C

U

cr

cc

cc

ci

c • 

4 •

a

sllGrIl
G& 

GOD. &

D-
1 &

B. 

GF. 

GOD, 

U9-
1

Go %

1 ,

I "

ll

CIS

cwi

ci

cq

cq

cq

cq

c\ 

N

N

cq

cq

cq

CD

C

CD

cc

CD

CD

CG

c41
o

bn

41

as +

1

bn

bn

bn

c 

O

U

y

m

U

o °-

s -° 

o -° 

o

4

m

41  

CD

o

w

ca

u -

o

a ° 

o, 

Q. ° 

cs, > 

o

o

U

czUx ° 

q

o ; 

0

0

0

off

o

0 ° 

m° 

c 

m

m

0

E" 

rQ

0

m

U  

m

a -= 

C, 

Z °  

4a

0

O

a 

0

U

a 

C

tw ^

C

0

pi

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

v

q

A~ 

C

o

m

p, 

o

a ,

7

m

w

o

0' -

a

a ° ^ 

0

U . 

zs ,- 

o

00

0

oto
0

0

0

o

a

s

a.. ..... 

0s     

a

a

o

0

o

c

z

a

o

c

c -

o

a3

0

o

m

m

a

o

s, 

o

v

s. 

o ° 

0

0i

w

o

a 

a

0

s4

a 

O

m , 

0

0 , 

0s

0

v

d

a> 

W

a 

m

04-
1P4
o °' 

a> 

m

m

Gs

O

O. + 

rH =•' 

G 

s 

GL

a) 

m

m

cd ¢+ > 

Q' ..

Ni

c] >, >, >, >, >, >, >, >, >, >, 

5C

e 

eV

m

O

eV

DC

CA

v ° 

k

N  . °' 

k

w

CV

w

DC

a> 

SC

a'   

N - 

O

N

W

C° 

v

v°° 

0

0

0

0

0

o

W

z

co

s 

p

w

U
C 

we., 
cql

W - 

m

weq ) 
W

0

4

ai ¢ 

U

v

W

m

ra  

W

Q

cq

cq  

W

W

i7

F;  °  

c0i  

x. 

P4

u

by

u

u

u

u

u

u

u

bA

y '

C'
I

nY

y '' 

O . ' 

s " ¢' 

CW"3

O

H

a

H

H `

aQw
E 

awWtl
xP, 

F

F "

H

F 

QF

0

P;

H

7xUU.'
t/

Q

E- 



O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

L

M

M

L

00

M

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

d7

M

0

O

LO

O

O

N

It, 

M

LO

O

m

O

67

LO

LO

O

O

LO

LO

N

00

O

0

M

N

CV

GV

d

M

M

M

M

d

IM

0 ' 

00

LO

O

d

t10

C11

M

d

LO

r 

eJ

Cfl

00

00

op

00

CO

CO

CO
d

C6

4

CC

O

O

CV

Cn

w -- •-- --

i

W

CV

CV

CV .-

a  

A

A

GQI

EA

EA

y} 

Ef} 

EA

H3

H9

Ef3

E03

EA

fA

EF} 

EA

GV

O

O

CV

O

00

00

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

d

O

d

CV

O

N

N

LO

Cc

M

L

LO

00

m

M

O

O

M

O

CD

CD

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

r

o -+ . 

a

0

M

CD

d' 

LO

Cfl

O

N

00

r

m

CD

cm

IN

C

N

C

ti -

4

C

C

C

L6

L6

r- 

C

cs

IN

L6 -

4

L6lt 
UL

UL

ci

C

C

d

M- 

O " 

CV

Cc

o

m

m

o

O

o

to

LO

0

L

O

N

N

t1J

LO
C` 

CD

1" -

4

CD

M

00

a) 

M

N

N

N

O

LO  

co

M

CD

CV

O

O

IZM

CD

y

LO

d' 

m

M

00

tf0

O

00

LO

M

CV

M" 

00

CV

CrJ

CrJ

00

G6

O

L` 

d' 

d' 

d' 

Le

L6

CC

O

C+

J

d' 

t- 

00

CD

L6

CYJ

CrJ

O

CSS

L6

O

CV

l

Ca " 

CO

L

N

O

CO

LO

M

M

00 [

M

M

L- 

LO

m

t

0 " 

M

O

N

CD

61

O

CV

d

Q) 

M

d

M 

N . 

CD

GV -

i

o

y

L

1-
4

00

00

cq

CV

6R

609

GF, 

69

EA

fH

Ef3

Gra

EH

Ef3

ff3

69

EA

ff3

LV

CV

o

00

00

0

0

0

O

O

0

0

d

0

d

GV

o

0

CV

O

0

0

0

Cfl

M

M

o

Cfl

O

0

0

O

o

0

0

O

o '-+ 

m

o

o " 

O

O

O

d' 

00

00
0

000 ' 
o

14

o

000

tr;

Cco
o -

4

tra

0
O

o00
0

4 

N

o

L- 

NOO
t- 

X00
O

LO

M

M

CO

O

to

M

O

M

CV

0

0

CV

0

LO

O

LO

M

O

O

M

LO

00

O

o

M

a) 

Cfl

00

L

cc

Cc

1+ 

L

L

w

m

o

rS

0

o

1

ai

o (-

i

L

0

00

k

d

d

m

M

M

LO

LO

00

7v

M -+ 

I!

i

LO

m

L

O

M

o

l
t[

0

CV

O

d

M

M

M

LO

O

CV

61 $

s

l

O0

oc 

M

M

l

1-

4

U

cq

c 

d

Ef} 

Ef3

Ef3

6g

EL} 

Ef3

CA, 

fJ} 

EA

EF> 

Ef3

663

H3

6s

G{} 

U3a 

co

M

M

N

N

cq -

4

Cqc

cz

0

0

o

d

o

0

o

F

o

C 

5

cn

41

cz

au -

c

C) 

an ° 

an

z

o ^

O

d

O " -

d

o

a) 

a' 

O

p 

O

O

O

C) 

O

O

t- 

0.l

Pa

0.1

a> 

GG =. 

Pa

Pa

0

0

CZ

41

co

cz

Q? 

A

O

d

aOi . 

F

a

a $-

4

M4

w ^

C

p

7C

ca ^

C7

cz

u > ^

C

m

O 

d

ko " 

m ^

C3

O

D

M

00

a

A

Q' 

w

A

o

j

z 

U

Q

U -

d

A -

cs

a

W

a

o

0

o 

O

W

O 

O

O '    

C) 

H  

a > 

C? 

41.
1

UW
41

M

CW

U) 

U) 

fS,

U 

F

F
K

U

F

Awa
F

UUP
F

A

0.i

w

U

F

A

w 

0

3
f

UZW
F



Cc

m

m

Cc

0
1-

1

1

It '

t

0

00

ll 

Lll 

u' 

1

1

4

ccow - 
0
m

Lo
m

co

m

LO

U' 

Lo

LOLn0000
00

00cgI" 
LO

LO

LO

un

m

m

m

O

m

a

d

N

a) 

Nc*
i -

LL6L
00

cc

cq

LOL6ano
dL

r• 

N

N

Lo

LO

itJ

N

Lo

0 - 

m

m

w, 

m

cq

00

m -

0

cc0
00

N

4

r+ 

oo
N

w

a) 

1) 

ci

cli

cli

A

A

ccccmmcco - 
L- 

mgr
o

4

0Lo

0000
Ln

or•+ 

o

o --

I

N

o0=-

100

cnko0
U' 

I"

m

o

o

o

0

c

m

0

L

o

o

Ln

LO

u6-

46L6L6o14
ci

o'

iL6L6
L6

CY64

p

r

cli

o-

4

d

C6 -

4

05

CIS _; 

4

C

ccccLOL-

00o00
00N'
t

co

t- 

0

aqNO
ca

C

00m
00

00

m

1-

4y
m

oo

N 

I" 

N

00

co

C11

LO

u0

N

o

m

o

o

N

y

cc

LO

to

0

uo

N

o

N

an

ci

cli

u6

u6

L6

L

oo

ci

o

c6

o

t-: 

o

zy

ci

ci

ci

cci

e

ci

a) 

as

cc

o

N

oo

co -

1

LO

oo -

0 "

4

o

cq

mC11

ua

cq

LO -

0

0

m

w

c+

z

ri

c6

cri

cc

C4

cc

cq

N

co0
0

0

co

mo

m

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

cio00
N

LO

u0

0

0

0

00

0

0

0

0

0

Lo

CC

cel

4 ' ' ' 

L-- 

00 ' ' 

o

CYS

CYS

o -

4

ci

o ' 

CIS

CYS ' 

CIS

cl' ' ' 

crJ

m

o

m
L- 

o

o

r+ 

L- 

m

o

N

N

o

m

00

00

00

00

t7

cc

o0

m" 

o

o

4

LO

0

0

0

0

0

m

t7

cc

cc

cc

cc

Q) 

N
C

aS

o

o

L
o•
5

ao

o

6; 

o

a 

cli

C

ci

N

cc

0 

o

o

N

o

a 

o - 

o

o

0

0

0

0

co

cc

N

N

00

00

ca

Lcc] 
Lo .-- 

sr . 

Uc

U603, 
cq

C11

GAI

0

0

0

41

o

bi) 

U

O  

U

TS

O

p

41

a)

4. 

Q  

4-
D

44

00

O

y

roa
3

rn .• 

o

A +. 

co

W . 

m

F^

41

C

m

o

Q

uz

A

A

w

o". 

ma

o

E" 

o

o 

4' °) `° 

a 

a) 

o

F

tYi

c

A

o

x

a 

k

o

o

p

zs

o

E" 

o

c 

o

p

o

R. 

o

i

c ., 

p

s 

x

W

O

o +' 

o

W

W

L7

aA

41

a> (

1)  

o

Q' 

F

U

rS

c

dE

F

dE 

pd
r

UU
En

F

A

A
r

E- 

0  

E- 

0



J



O + 

c

c

U

0

0

O

a 

w

w

Go

o

Go

a~ 

Orn
03

O

O

Q

sem, 

t

6

COV

CIS

o

En 

U

N

a 

p

N

c

T

HGLI
N

U

0

p 

p

O

O

c 

oc

en

Ic

CV

04

cd Y

V

a Q

V

p

p

co
t+, 

O

O

c\

V •

o

G4

Y ¢ ~ ` 

do

U

O

b '

cI

a) '

d

on

q

a

a

o 

w  

o

O   :•

nv 

4] 

OU

z

tk

CV

0) 

0) 

ao

ao

HO
G1. Uapio

4) W0F

91
F!} Til  Nicq

00eq

LO

LO

C0

ulJ
I

ko044

L

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

m

m

O

O

O

O

00

O

O

d' 

CV

00

O

n

CV
r --

i

O

114

114

L- 

00

ko
1.

4

CV

It

O-

4

N

w

Lo

CO

m
C•

7

O = 

N

d" 

m

Cfl

116

CV

O
C 

a

e

CV

Cfl

OD

5

C, " 

mr-
I -

4

COO

m

000

0

cc

Co

C4

C6

C

O

C& 

IEA

0

0

o

o

0

0

c

m

m

oo0o00oo" 
cq

000t-
ci

o-

ril

r

LO

CV

LO

O = 

O

O

CVI
Cfl

m "

m

w

cm

00CSO

CO

CV

09
C'

7

I  

60-
1

1CRI

H

UU
t4460

N

L." 

cCd

sem, 

m

Az

5

a  

O

O

w

Qi

y

m

y

m

CZ

Cly

F+ 

H

UUt4460



K



cOLaCLLULa) mOOOacaQ
c -

iOOTm00c -
Ivn0CjzLacL

4- 

mOmW
1% 

W

cm0EOUatoaam

YmLYYUL+ 

U

0  m  UOLn }, 

4- 

c

o

obn
4- 

C
c

O
Q

L

L

m

Y -

0

L
o

m

C

c

mQ

a

v

y

c

N

O

O

a

a. 

YE

O

m

4- 

E
E '

aC

O

m

cmc

O

a

m

E

Gmo

twV-

1

m

t05

cm

vi

c

E

0

m

m

U

m

Z

C

i

O

U 

n

c

O

a

a '> 

m

U

o

c  

L

I

4a

m00

a

a

3

Lol) 

aGp

v

a

Ln

m

m

nE

ZLnoU

aH° 

Y

O

YY

v

c

O

OL

to

uCo

vi

c

u

O

O

F

Q

V

LO
Y

m

cu

c

N

1

L

a

O

O

Z

a

s

O

p

L

a

L

a

m

L

O

to

Ca

via° 

Y

a

o

LNa
O

L

Q

Vc

r

Ym

VI

N

cu

O

L

L

0

O

ao
c

in

U 

3

0

E

O

U

L

a

m

QiY

N

V) a

L4-
1 Y

o

m

c

E

au

o

c

p

4s

m

3

O

L1

GOO

au

U

O

0

U

w

V •+ 

j

O

Q' 

M

u

m

o

a

tOvp

a

L

L

a

L

N

o

GO

U

L

C

OL

a

LY

L

uO

O

Y

Y

C

GO

Y

u

O

O

N

Y

cm

iZ

YGD

a

O_ 

a

O

O. 

CL

O

L

L

L

O

a

m

OL

O

a

O

a

O

E

u

U

m
i- 

O

VI

of0

L

QN

a

O

uL

O

a

LY

via

Y .

c

E

a

E

m

o

f

L

o

m

a

y

am

0

a

L -

a

a

L

Q

a

N

E

o- 

L

D

aa

a

GO

c

m

m

u

C

Y

O

vi

C

O

C

E

m

v

o

L

o

E

U

c

cu

v

O

3

Y

O

a

Ln

y

Ln

t
o

3

L-: 

u

o

cOo

3

a

3

Gip

v

c

v

L

Mbe

L

v

U

m

Q

O

n" 

E

a

L

m

E

a

v; 

o

m

f

m

L

m

O

m

a

v

v

c

m

c

a

o

O

a

O

u

a

O

a

U> 

c

Y

raE

o. 

H

m

Q) 

a

L

U

a

L

O • 

rG

co

Qui

L

M

Laj

O

M

O

Z

A

aL, 

GO

c

O

a

a

u

a

E

sz '> 

GaL° 

v+ 
i

E

a° 

v

m 

v

N

c

s3

c

E 

v

m

a

O

a

4-

1u

N

3

O

a

oO

L

U

C

O

Q

L

O

m

C

Q

c

E

Y

L

o

OL

E

v+'
i

c 

a

GO_O

z

aQ

m

O

3

Yu

ao

a

L

O

GO

U

O

E

a

O

O

M

n

O

4- 

Z

6

m

L

a

N

O

N

m

of

V

O

c

Y

0

v

a

u

o

a

o

f

m

p

o

Q° 

c

CA

m

O

Q) 

o

o

m

4-

1

v

L

a

o

aE

m

c

c

u

coo

vmi

a

a

L

O

NItt

a

O

m

111

C

ai

Y

c

a

u

Y

ON

y

Y

u

Oa3

m

m

N

4- 

p

O

L

a

N

U

CO

c

H> 

tOn

V

J

o

o

4-

1

v

a

o

Q

o

3

E

m> 

o

00

m

1

v 

c

c

7

3

p

Q

N

N . 

C

aU, 

O

m

m

a

L

n

a

L

c

GO

O

c

a

E

m

UJ

U° 

U

O

u110 — 
m

p

L

O

a

u

v

c

Z

uc

ON

O° y

a

m

a

s

p

tZ

L

r -
I

YY

4-

1O

0

c

3

w

m

a

O_ 

O

o '

a

o

co

m

G

1

c

m

O

v, 

UMw, 

YN° 

to

t

v

O

1O1

c

c

m> 

o

a

o

a

m

E

C

w

m

T- 

U

fY. 

o'. 

v 

E

U

vi

3

U

t

a

U

c

3

4-

1

a

m

i

O

m+ 

O

O

O

v) 

O

m

E

vi

L

C7

O

3

v 

a

O

N

m> d

c

O

O

O

c

E

o° 

H

co

0

c

o. 

L

Y

cj

Yc> 

t= 

a° 

o 

m

mE

U

t

L

v_ 

O

p

GO

m

n

in •

L

o

3

m

E

c

D

o

ro

L

c

a

Y

Wm

a

J

O

E

W

z

O

L

u

a

3

a

c

o

O

ap

m

Y

vYi

m

c

C

a

OL

L

O
L

ua

a

f

O

U

O

c

m

m

ui

o

C

L° 

u

a° 

a

L

o

U

L

m

c

c

o

O

a

a

a

O

a

Z

c° 

U

L

v 

L

a) 

GQ

Q

a

G

to

Y

75L

Y

LL
W

aL

3

L

Q) 

L

Y

00

W

Q) 

u

Ioc

O

N

V

O

N

O^ 

r

m

a

Q

E

ate+ 

m

O

m

v] 

W

O

Q+ 

L

a3

t

LL

is

a

V

Yom+ 

GO

Q

L

m

of

E

tp

Q

m

Q

a

Z

m

Q) 

Y

O

O

i

a

u

Lf

o

c

a

U

U.
1

L

W

a

r4

L

i

N

L

3

O

E

c "° 

d

Ln

c

L

O

fY

L

H

O

3

m

a

3

a

of

Cr

am- u

o

Y

c

m

m

O

3

t

Y

3° 

O

L

c

a

c

E

v

ao

E

L

W

o

GnC: 

3

U

Z

O

v; 

No

m

a

c

ao

am

c

v

E

Q 

r_ 

L° 

o

c

G

a

L

3

LA

O

L

GO

H

L

a

m

a> Q

O

L

c •

L

L

m

O

I

Q

U

O

m

i"

1

i> 

cn

a

O

C

Q

E

CL

cua

a •

u

O

N

Y

00 u

m

a
L

aL

OO

as c

a

L

i-

1

O

a

C

m4-, 

O

Q) 

Q) 

O. 

io

a

O. ° 

of

Lnn

N
O

u

m

V) 

v) 

U

d

O

m

v) 

L

7

io

L

L

17. 

m

U

SZ

O

of

a

O

a

a

U . -

I

of

YmLYYUL+ 

U

0  m  UOLn }, 

4- 

c

oobn

4- 

C
cOQ

L

L

m

Y -

0

Lo

m

C

c

mQ

a

v

y

c

N

O

O

a

a. 

YE

O

m

4- 

E
E '

aC

O

m

cmc

O

a

m

E

Gmo

twV-
1

m

t05

cm

vi

c

E

0

m

m

U

m

Z

C

i

O

U 

n

c

O

a

a '> 

m

U

o

c  

L

I

4a

m00

a

a

3

Lol) 

aGp

v

a

Ln

m

m

nEZLnoU



Fiqmma dN

O

O " in

Q- 

t

vL

O

p

cOQOmLQ) mOC) lD
4- 

UQ1Q1YQ1U
cm0t Ln



Goldsboro Social District Refresh

Greg Mills, Business & Property Development

August 7, 2023



• A social district is a defined area in which a person 
may consume alcoholic beverages from an official 
container sold by an approved ABC permittee located 
within defined social district boundaries and defined 
days and hours of operation

What is a Social District? 



There are now over 40 Social Districts in NC

Albemarle - Asheboro - Cary (approved) - Charlotte – Southend & Plaza 
Midwood - Cornelius – expanded - Davidson - Durham - Elkin 
(approved)- Elon- Fayetteville- Franklinton- Garner- Gastonia- 
Greensboro x2- Greenville- Hickory- High Point- Huntersville- 
Kannapolis- Lake Norman- Laurinburg- Lenoir- Madison- Manteo- 
Marion (approved)- Monroe- Newton- Norwood- Oxford- Pilot 
Mountain- Raleigh – expanded- Rutherfordton (approved)- Salisbury- 
Selma- Statesville- Sylva- Tarboro- Washington- Wendell- Whiteville- 
Wilson- Youngsville 



Why Social Districts

• The fastest growing downtown development program in the State 
• Proven Economic driver for increased revenue for downtown businesses
• Attracts new events and new visitors 
• Attracts more businesses to downtown
• Incentivizes retail establishments to stay open later
• Increases pedestrian activity and provides a variety of experiences
• Low implementation cost, low maintenance cost



Who Can Sell Alcohol in a Social District? 
Only ABC permitees holding approved on-premises ABC permits may sell alcohol to be consumed in 
a social district.

Special One-time ABC permits used for non-profit organization events at the HUB or Freedom Field 
are not legally approved to sell alcohol into the  Social District. 

This results in 3 options for events held inside the Social District such as the HUB or Freedom Field. 

1. An event at that chooses to sell alcohol with a Special One-time ABC permit must be closed to the Social District. 
Therefore, events serving alcohol will operate as they have in the past – no alcohol comes in and no alcohol goes out of 
the defined event space.

2. An event that chooses NOT to sell alcohol at their event may choose to be open to the Social District – people with 
alcohol legally obtained from and acting in accordance with the Social District may attend

3. An event that chooses NOT to sell alcohol at their event may choose to be closed to the Social District, meaning no 
alcohol is allowed inside their event space



Revised
Social District Boundary 

and Hours
Proposed Area to include current ABC 

Permittees 

Center St from Ash to Spruce

James to John on:
Mulberry, Walnut, Chestnut, Spruce

Space around City Hall buildings will be 
excluded

10am–10pm 
Monday through Sunday 

Only on-premise ABC permittees can sell alcohol to 
the Social District

Mostly restaurants open at 10 am 

Sunday 10am to accommodate Brunch Bill
Goldsboro City Council approved the sale of alcohol at 

10 am on Sunday in 2017



Most Common Question 
If my business is in the social district, but I do not want customers coming into the  
business with alcoholic beverages, do I have to allow it?

No - any business located in, or contiguous to, the designated social district has the 
option to participate, or not, in allowing customers with beverages to enter their 
premises- These window/door decals display preferences- Information also posted on 
the city Social District website



Additional Rules for ABC Permittees to Sell Alcohol 
in the Social District

• Alcoholic beverages that are being sold to be consumed in a social district 
can only be sold in an official container that meets all the following 
requirements: 
 The container clearly displays the ABC permittee from which the alcoholic 

beverage was purchased
 The container clearly displays a logo or some other mark that is unique to the 

social district in which it will be consumed
 The container clearly displays the date the beverage was purchased
 The container displays, in no less than 12-point font, the statement, “Drink 

Responsibly – Be 21” 
 The container is not made of glass
 The container cannot hold more than sixteen fluid ounces



What Requirements Do Customers Have to 
Follow Within a Social District? 

 Any alcoholic beverages consumed in the social district outside of the approved ABC 
permitted business must be consumed from an official container

 A person can only possess and consume alcoholic beverages purchased from an approved 
ABC permittee located in the social district- A person cannot bring their own personal 
alcohol  into the social district for consumption

 A person cannot pour their alcoholic beverage into any personal type of container



City performed research & due diligence 

 Key city departments held several meetings with various stakeholders to discuss pros and cons of 
implementing Social Districts including City management, Planning, Downtown Development and 
Goldsboro Police Department (GPD)- 

 GPD reached out to several neighboring communities who already implemented Social Districts and 
found no major concerns resulting from implementation

 The City Attorney has reviewed the proposed ordinance and found no issues

 The majority of ABC permitted businesses support implementing a Social District



City performed research & due diligence 

• The majority (95%) of downtown merchants inside the Social District support 
implementing a Social District



Any questions??


	Agenda 08-07-23
	ws item b - Modular Move COI Waiver
	ws item c - Public Safety Complex Repairs
	ADP690E.tmp
	Public Safety Complex Update
	Public Safety Complex Update
	Public Safety Complex Update
	Foundation Repairs


	ws item d -Wastewater Reclamation Facility Expansion Engineering Design Services
	Item A1 - Minutes 7-17-23
	Item A1-2 - minutes 7-17-23 exhibits
	Item A2 - Revised Minutes 5-15-23
	Item C - Thornton Award
	Item D - Justin Cates 8-7-23
	Item E - Z-10-23 - Meares Bluff
	Item F1 - ALTA
	Item F2 - Alta Performance Agreement
	ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT
	A. Independent Agreement.  This Agreement and the conditions hereof only relate to the provisions and grants from the County and City set forth herein and do not limit or affect other commitments made by the County and City, the State of North Carolin...
	WAYNE COUNTY      Attest:
	CITY OF GOLDSBORO     Attest:
	ALTA Foods LLC      Attest:


	Item G - Agenda 2023-08-07 S1104 2010 Sewer Bonds CPF
	Agenda Memo S1104 2010A Sewer 2023-08-07_0
	ORDIN S1104 2010A Sewer Bonds CPF 08-07-23_0

	Item H - Agenda 2023-08-07 100 Whitfield & S Alabama (Oliver)_0
	Agenda Memo 2023-08-07 100 Whitfield & S Alabama (Oliver)_0
	Resolution Surplus SL2004-94 Substandard 100 Whitfield & S Alabama (Oliver) 2023-08-07_0
	Offer 2023-08-01 John Oliver _ 100 Whitfield Drive_Redacted
	Offer 2023-08-01 John Oliver -S. Alabama St
	Whitfield Dr. Aerial Map
	Appraisal Card 100 Whitfield Drive (07-31-23)
	Appraisal Card S Alabama (07-31-23)

	Item I - Agenda 2023-08-07_1 Operating Amendment_0
	Agenda Memo Op Funds 2023-08-07_0
	FY23-24 Rollover List-Final_7-14-23_02
	Agenda 08-07-23

	ORDINANCE Op Amend 2023-08-07_0

	Item J - Agenda 2023-08-07 Oper Amend 2 (Chamber Commerce)_0
	Agenda Memo Op Funds (Chamber) 2023-08-07_0
	ORDINANCE Op Amend (Chamber) 2023-08-07_0

	item K - Ch 115 Update
	ADP39F6.tmp
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12


	ADP362B.tmp
	Habitat for Humanity�of Goldsboro-Wayne
	Vision�A community in which everyone �has a decent place to live.����Mission�To work with our neighbors to share �God’s love by building homes, communities �& hope through affordable home ownership.
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13
	Slide Number 14
	Slide Number 15
	Slide Number 16




